Public Document Pack

Agenda
Contact Officer: Ron Schrieber, Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01235 422524
E-mail: ron.schrieber@southandvale.gov.uk
Date: 12 February 2019
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 20 FEBRUARY 2019 AT 6.00 PM
THE FOUNTAIN CONFERENCE CENTRE, HOWBERY PARK, BENSON
LANE, WALLINGFORD, OX10 8BA
Members of the Committee:
Toby Newman (Chairman)
Anthony Dearlove (ViceChairman)
Joan Bland
Lorraine Hillier
Elaine Hornsby

Mocky Khan
Jeannette Matelot
David Nimmo-Smith
Ian Snowdon

David Turner
Ian White

Substitutes
Nigel Champken-Woods
Steve Connel

Sue Cooper
Stefan Gawrysiak

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request. These include
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on
this agenda. Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.
MARGARET REED
Head of Legal and Democratic

1

1

Chairman's announcements

To receive any announcements from the chairman and general housekeeping matters.
2

Apologies for absence

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.
3

Declarations of interest

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on
the agenda for this meeting.
4

Urgent business

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or
withdrawn.
5

Proposals for site visits

6

Public participation

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.

Development control applications
Planning applications - background paper and supplementary
information
All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application
number.
Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be
reported and summarised at the meeting.

2

Summary Index of Applications
7

P18/S3069/FUL - Cabora Bassa, Church Road, Sandford-OnThames OX4 4XZ (Pages 5 - 28)

The demolition of an existing one and a half storey detached property and the erection
of eight one bedroom flats.
8

P18/S3143/O - DAF Trucks Ltd, Eastern Bypass, Thame OX9
3FB (Pages 29 - 52)

Outline planning permission (all matters reserved except for access) sought for
demolition of existing buildings and development of 1511 sqm (gross) of offices and up
to 129 dwellings and associated works.
Full planning permission sought for erection of a 68 bed care home and associated
access, vehicular parking, landscaping, ancillary infrastructure and other works.
9

P18/S0002/O - Shirburn Road, Watlington OX49 5BZ (Pages 53 74)

Outline application for up to 37 assisted living units, provision of a care home and four
staff accommodation units.
10

P18/S2664/FUL - St Lawrence House, St Lawrence Close,
Warborough, Wallingford OX10 7EY (Pages 75 - 92)

Demolish 15 flats/bedsits and erect 12 flats with associated parking and landscaping.
11

P18/S3705/FUL - Land North of Beckley Court, Beckley,
Oxfordshire (Pages 93 - 110)

Proposed new three bed dwelling.

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 20 February 2019

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

OFFICER

P18/S3069/FUL
FULL APPLICATION
10.9.2018
SANDFORD
Sue Lawson
Elder Kennedy Limited
Cabora Bassa Church Road Sandford-On-Thames,
OX4 4XZ
The demolition of an existing one and a half storey
detached property and the erection of 8 no. one
bedroom flats. (As amended by drawing PP0030B
indicating the width of the access road and removal
of studies from the units accompanying letter from
agent dated 18 October 2018 and amended by
drawing 16113-PP0010 F removing planting from
access drive and moving access further west
accompanying letter form agent dated 4 January
2019.)
Paul Bowers

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application is referred to the Planning Committee because the views of the
Sandford on Thames Parish Council differ from the case officer’s recommendation of
approval.

1.2

The application site comprises a one and half storey chalet style dwelling known as
Cabora Bassa. It is located within the built confines of the settlement and accessed
via a shared driveway extending southward from Church Road which also serves the
adjoining property Kiln House. Both properties are within generous plots with
adequate parking areas in front of the buildings.
The building is not listed but is located within the Oxford Green Belt.
A plan identifying the site can be found at Appendix 1 of this report.

2.0
2.1

PROPOSAL
The application seeks from the council full planning permission to demolish the existing
building and replace it with a single building comprising 8 flats and associated parking
and amenity space.

2.2

The application has been amended twice since it was submitted. The first amendment
altered the internal layout to remove the studies in each of the 8 units and provided a
plan indicating the width of the driveway. The second amendment removed the planting
along the sides of the driveway and altered the access to the west.

2.3

Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application is attached as Appendix 2
to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the council’s website
www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.

Page 5

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 20 February 2019

3.0
3.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Sandford-on-Thames Parish Council – Object to the development as originally
submitted and amended for the following reasons;
- Over development of the site.
- Significant traffic generation fro the development and incerase from the existing
situation.
- Poor visibility at the access.
- Concern about the appearance of the driveway with the removal of vegetation.
- Do not consider the proposal for 8 flats on a small plot to be either useful or
desriable.
Neighbour Responses –
11 objections to the application as originally submitted covering the following issues;
- Traffic generation from so many properties form the existing access and narrow
driveway.
- Insufficient parking provision on site.
- Concern about the position of the waste bins.
- Impact from noise to nearby proeprties form so many new units on the site.
- Overshadowing of Kiln House.
- Loss of privacy to Kiln House and 37, 39, 45, 47 and 53 Church Road.
- Out of keeping with the charcater of the area.
- Innappropriate development in the Green Belt.
- Over development of the site.
- There is no local need for smaller units.
- Flats are likely to be too expensive for young people.
9 objections (including two separate objections from the same person on different
issues) to amendment 1 (which involves removal of studies and information on the
width of the access)
- Concern about the bin storage.
- Insufficient width along the driveway for cars to pass.
- Loss of the semi rural character of the area from the works to the driveway.
- Issue of land ownership at the junction.
- Overdevelopment of the site.
- Concern over foul waste.
- Objection over the works ot the verge.
5 objections to amendment 2 (alterations to the access)
- Concern about the vision from exiting cars from the junction.
- Any new planting will reduce the width of the driveway.
- Inadequate levels of parking.
- The development will harm the character of the area.
- Lack of renewable sources of energy.
- Refuse unlikely to be collected so far up the driveway.
County Archaeological Services - No objection.
Waste Management Officer - No objetion to the amended plans and position of the bin
storage.
Contaminated Land – No objection subject to conditions.
Highways Liaison Officer Countryside Officer - No objection.

Page 6

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 20 February 2019

4.0
4.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P18/S2096/PEM – Pre-application advice (16/07/2018)
Demolition of the existing building and erection of a replacement building to
accommodate 8 x 1 bed room apartments
P17/S2939/LDP – Certificate approved (10/01/2018)
Erection of a single storey rear extension; roof extension and insertion of a ground floor
side window to the existing dwelling (as amended by drawing numbers 16113-PD01-D
and 16113-PD02-D to reduce overall width of single storey extension received on 31
October 2017).
P17/S4137/PDH - Approved (21/12/2017)
Single storey extension to the rear of the existing dwellinghouse and an extension to
the roof of the existing dwellinghouse.
Depth: 8m
Height: 4m
Height to eaves: 2.53m

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies
CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN2 - Green Belt protection
CSQ3 - Design
CSR1 - Housing in villages
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
C8 - Adverse affect on protected species
D1 - Principles of good design
D2 - Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3 - Outdoor amenity area
D4 - Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
EP8 - Contaminated land
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
G5 – Best use of land/buildings in built up areas
GB4 - Openness of Green Belt maintained
H4 - Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1 - Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 - Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)
Emerging Sandford on Thames Neighbourhood Plan –
The Parish Council are currently in the process of preparing their plan. However, at this
stage the Plan cannot be afforded any weight in the determination of this current
application.

Page 7

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 20 February 2019

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

The main issues that need to be considered in relation to this proposal are;












6.2

The principle of the development in terms of housing policy.
The principle of development in terms of the Green Belt and impact
on openness.
Housing Mix
Design and impact on the character and appearance of the area.
Neighbour impact.
Access, parking and Highway Safety.
Amenity space.
Protected species.
Impact on trees.
Contamination.
Community Infrastructure Levy.

The principle of the development in terms of housing policy.
Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the
local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development
Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material
considerations.
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
where regard is to be had to the Development Plan, applications for planning
permission must be determined in accordance with the Plan unless materials
considerations indicate otherwise.

6.3

SOCS policy CSR1 relates to the council’s housing strategy in the districts villages.
Policy CSR1 permits infill within villages subject to the size of the site or equivalent
number of houses depending on whether the settlement is a defined within SOCS as a
‘Larger’, ‘Smaller’ or ‘Other’ village. CSR1 also states that proposals for redevelopment
may be acceptable in all categories of settlement and will be considered on a case by
case.
The application proposes the redevelopment of an existing developed site because
there is an existing building on the site. Policy CSR1 does not restrict redevelopment to
specific dwelling numbers in the same way as it does for infill development.
Sandford on Thames is defined as a ‘Smaller Village’ and if this was assessed as an
infill site CSR1 would limit the number of dwellings to 5-6. The fact that Policy CSR1
does not limit the number of redevelopment sites does not mean that the number of
units can automatically be greater than if it were an infill site. However, in this case
Sandford is a ‘Smaller Village’ and lies in relatively close proximity to services and
facilities offered by Oxford City. In addition, whilst this is a proposal for 8 units it is in
fact a net gain of 7 units. This is only 1 unit greater than Policy CSR1 allows for infill
development. I do not believe that this would be contrary o the overall housing strategy
in the development plan and is compliant with Policy CSR1.

Page 8

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 20 February 2019

6.4

The principle of development in terms of the Green Belt and impact on
openness.
Policy background –
The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land
permanently open. This is set out in Section 13 of the advice from Central Government
in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).
The advice contained within the NPPF is filtered down on a more local level within the
district’s development plan specifically SOCS policy CSEN2 and SOLP policy GB4
within the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.
The five purposes of the Green Belt are;
- to check the unrestricted urban sprawl of large built up areas;
- to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
- to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
- to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
- to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and
other urban land.

6.5

Paragraph 143 states that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the
Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances.
‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt
by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is
clearly outweighed by other considerations.
Paragraph 144 goes on to advise that when considering any planning application, local
planning authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the
Green Belt. The assessment of the impact to the Green Belt is therefore a stepped
process. Firstly, to establish whether the development falls within development that is
not inappropriate in the Green Belt – if it is then its harmful, the second is to determine
whether the development will harm openness - if it does then it is also harmful. If a
development conflicts with either or both of these considerations then there must be
very special circumstances to justify either of those two types of harm.

6.6

The NPPF advises that a local planning authority should regard the construction of new
buildings as inappropriate development in the Green Belt except for the following
purposes
a) buildings for agriculture and forestry;

b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of
land or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and
burial grounds and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of
the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it;
c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;

Page 9

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 20 February 2019

d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same
use and not materially larger than the one it replaces;
e) limited infilling in villages;
f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in
the development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and
g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously
developed land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding
temporary buildings), which would:
‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the
existing development; or
‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to
meeting an identified affordable housing need within the area of the local
planning authority.
6.7

Whether the development is considered inappropriate development and impact on

openness-

There are two exceptions to building in the Green Belt on the above list which could
apply to this proposed development as shown in d) and g) as being either a
replacement building or a redevelopment of the site. Both exceptions have caveats that
they either cannot be materially larger than the building it replaces and have a greater
impact on openness.
As highlighted above, the last bullet point states that limited infilling and
redevelopment is not considered to be inappropriate in the Green Belt.
The site contains an existing building and therefore its demolition and replacement with
another building is not automatically an inappropriate form of development. However,
the caveat is that the new building cannot have a greater impact on openness than the
one it replaces or have a greater impact on openness than the existing development.
The plans accompanying the application show the existing building in comparison to
the proposed building;

Page 10

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 20 February 2019

This shows that the new building is materially larger which will inevitably have a greater
impact on openness than the existing building. The proposal is therefore inappropriate
development and by definition harmful. In addition, as the new building is larger in
overall volume than the existing building it will, in my opinion, have a greater impact on
openness.
It is therefore necessary to consider whether there are any very special circumstances
that would justify the identified harm.
6.8

Whether there are very special circumstances?
The NPPF says that where villages are included within the green belt, it has to be
because they too contribute to its openness.
If there was no development on this site it would still have to the north, west and east
i.e. it would be enclosed on three sides and on that basis it would meet the definition of
infill development. The NPPF does not consider infill development to be an
inappropriate form of development within a settlement. I give this some weight in
considering the very special circumstances.

6.9

Regard must also be had to the fall-back position that is afforded to the applicants.
They have established through applications P17/S4137/PDH and P17/S2939/LDP that
under permitted development rights extensions to the rear of the building and to its roof
would allow a considerable volume to be added to the existing building. It is therefore
necessary to consider the impact on the Green Belt in the context of how the existing
building would be if it was to be extended as shown in these applications. Looking
again at the extract of the submitted drawing in section 6.7 of this report the extent of
the building as it could be extended is shown as a combination of the two dotted lines.
It is the difference between the extent of new volume versus the building as extended
which is key.

6.10 What also must be weighed in the balance is the fact that the building is being lowered
in the ground when compared to the existing building. This will reduce the impact on
openness to some extent.
6.11 Weighing this all in the balance and taking into account that if the building were to be
demolished and the site cleared of all buildings there would be no specific restriction on
the size of the building(s) either as an infill plot or as extended, I have concluded that
the overall impact on the openness of the Green Belt is acceptable.
6.12 Housing Mix.
The SOCS Policy CSH4 requires developments providing market housing to
demonstrate an appropriate housing mix.
The Housing Needs Assessment (HNA) that the policy CSH4 was based has been
updated by the SHMA 2014, which provided an updated assessment of the housing
needs for the district.
It is important to note that the SHMA identifies that when applying the housing mix
targets regard should be had to “the nature of the development site and character of
the area, and to up-to-date evidence of need as well as the existing mix and turnover of
properties at the local level.” This means that there will inevitably be some diversion
from the SHMA targets.

Page 11

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 20 February 2019

The proposal is for eight one bed units which would not accord with the mix in the
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) as set out in the table below:
1 bed
6%

2 bed
27%

3 bed
43%

4+ bed
24%

6.13 The SHMA is not intended to be prescriptive and any mix is looked at in the context of
the nature of the development, the characteristics of the site and the area.
Within a flatted development units of the sizes indicated in the SHMA is not always
practical particularly in the context of a relatively smaller scale development. In this
case smaller units are welcome given local provision is skewed to larger units.
6.14 Design and impact on the character and appearance of the area.
Policy CSQ3 of SOCS states that new development will be granted planning permission
where it is of high quality and inclusive design which responds positively to and
respects the character of the site and it surroundings and enhances local
distinctiveness. This is echoed in Policy D1 and G2 of SOLP.
Policy H4 of SOLP which relates to housing in villages is permissive subject to a
number of provisions which include the requirement that the development should be of
a design in keeping with the surroundings and that the character of the area is not
adversely affected.
6.15 In this case the building’s bulk, mass and height has been kept to a minimum with the
part of the first floor and the second floor wholly contained within the roof space. In
addition, traditional hipped and half hipped roofs have been employed to reduce the
building’s overall mass.
6.16 The use of red brick for the wall and slate for the roof reflects a palette of materials
which are in keeping with the character of the area.
6.17 The building is set back from main road down an extent of private driveway. Views from
Church Road will be limited and from a distance. When viewed down the access it will
be more prominent than the existing building. However, the design and scale of the
building will not cause any material harm to the wider character of the area.
Views will be possible to some extent from the south west and the public footpath but
again this will be some distance away and the building would be seen in the context of
surrounding built form.
The parking for the site at the front of the building is contained wholly outside of public
views in an area of the site already covered to a significant extent in hardstanding for
parking at the existing property.
There is amenity space at the rear which provides for a landscaped setting to the
building and a condition requiring details of planting and landscaping for the council’s
approval.
The bin storage is located on the driveway and is located 25 metres from the highway
which is the maximum distance acceptable for refuse bins to be located. The council’s
Waste Team have considered the plans and have no objection.

Page 12

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 20 February 2019

Overall, I conclude that the building whilst larger than the existing is of scale and
character that does not result in a harmful impact on the wider visual amenity of the
area. It accords with Policies CSQ3, D1 and H4.
6.18 Neighbour impact.
Impact on residential amenity is normally considered in terms of whether a
development results in material harm by way of overlooking, loss of sunlight or being so
large and close that it is oppressive and overbearing.
6.19 The impact of the development varies from property to property. I have taken each
property in turn which I consider to be the most affected by the development.
6.20 Kiln House –
This is the most affected property give its proximity to the application site. The main
impact will come from the height, mass and depth on the shared boundary between the
two properties. Kiln House has a living room window directly adjacent to the boundary.
On the basis of the existing situation the mass and bulk would be considered
oppressive and overbearing in my view. However, there are mitigating factors in my
opinion.
Firstly, the starting point for consideration is not the existing situation but rather how the
building could be lawfully be extended. As established in the lawful development
certificate and larger homes extension prior approval application a significant extent of
built form can be erected along the boundary creating a similar impact both in terms of
oppressiveness and loss of light. This is lustrated to an extent in the supporting visuals
accompanying the application as set out below;
Proposed Development -

Permitted Development Extension

Whilst this is only indicative it shows that the permitted development extension would
be longer than the proposed building but the proposed would be higher and shorter.
Having been to the site and viewed for myself the site from the affected living room
window I have concluded that the proposed building will not give rise to such an
oppressive or overbearing impact that it would be unneighbourly. In reaching this view I
have had regard to the fact that there are full height double doors at a 90 degree angle
to the window looking along the boundary with the application provision light and
openness to the room. In addition, the extent of garden for Kiln House is significantly
larger and open to the east which is that rooms main outlook. Coupled with the use of

Page 13

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 20 February 2019

the hipped roof and lowering in to the ground I am satisfied that this would not be
materially harmful.
In terms of overlooking the roof lights shown in the illustrative drawing above these are
of a height that would not allow for views out. This will be the subject of a condition that
requires them to be at least 1.7 metres above floor level and retained as such. In
addition, there is a balcony which is to include a privacy screen. As long as this is
provided it will ensure that there will be no material overlooking. A planning condition is
proposed to ensure that this provided prior to the building being occupied and
thereafter retained. Overall the impact to Kiln House is in my view acceptable.
6.21 49 and 51 Church Road -

These two properties are located to the west of the site and their rear elevations
face toward the side boundary and elevation of the application site and building.
In terms of number 49 the impact will be from the height and depth of the
building due to it extending along the full extent of the rear boundary. In my view
the distance between the rear of those buildings and the side of the new
building in conjunction with the slope of the roofs and lowered height is sufficient
to reduce the impact to an acceptable degree.
The balcony on the rear the boundary also includes a privacy screen and again
this can be ensured through the previously suggested condition. The remaining
views from the balcony would be at most oblique across the rear most part of
the garden of number 49 and will not cause any material harm.
6.22 Bassimer and 37 Church Road –

Bassimer is a two-storey detached recently built dwelling to the north and in
front of the proposed building. 37 Church Road is to the north east. The owners
of both properties are concerned about the impact of the first-floor windows
looking toward their properties. The distance between the proposed first floor
windows and Bassimer is in the order of 53 metres where as it is 40 metres to
367 Church Road. There are existing trees currently screening views. However,
the council’s minimum first floor window to window distance is 25 metres and, in
the event, that the trees should be removed in the future they would still be of a
sufficient distance that the level of overlooking would not be materially harmful.
6.23 47 and 45 and 39 Church Road –

47 and 45 have rear boundaries which adjoining the western side boundary of
the application site and will be adjacent to the parking area and driveway.
39 Church Road front to the north and its eastern side boundary adjoins a larger
extent of the driveway.
In terms of overlooking of 45 and 47 these will be oblique views across the rear
of the gardens rather than looking directly in to the houses of those properties.
In my view this is not materially harmful. The remaining impact to hose
properties and number 39 will be from the noise generated by vehicles going up

Page 14

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 20 February 2019

and down the driveway. I have considered this but concluded the level and
frequency of use and the level of noise over and above the existing situation
does not amount to a level of harm that would justify a refusal of planning
permission.
6.24 Access, parking and Highway Safety.
With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows:
Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe.
6.25 In respect of parking provision one space is provided per unit. This is in line with the
Council’s standards set out In Appendix 5 of SOLP. In addition, two visitor spaces are
required for which there is no specified requirement in the councils maximum parking
standards in SOLP. In conjunction with the proposed condition that requires the parking
and manoeuvring areas to be provided in accordance with the approved layout plan
and thereafter retained the Highway Authority has no objection.
6.26 The width of the access driveway to serve the new properties and the existing Kiln
House has been the subject of local concern and discussion with the applicant and their
agent. The plans were amended to increase the width of the driveway in order to allow
two cars to pass when leaving or entering the site. The only exception to this
measurement is where the width slightly reduces to accommodate bin storage. The
Highway Officer has assessed this carefully and concluded the arrangement is
acceptable.
6.27 The most recent amendment to the plans was made to address the concerns of the
Highway Officer and those of local objectors in respect of the vision for vehicles exiting
the site. This has involved the removal of the hedge along the western boundary (so
that there is no shyness when cars are travelling along the driveway) and moving the
access further west away from the eastern boundary. The Highway Officer is satisfied
that these changes allow for adequate vision and width for vehicles to exit and enter in
a safe manner without causing severe harm to the safety and convenience of the users
of the public highway. A condition is proposed that requires the vision splays shown on
the plan to be provided prior to the development being occupied and thereafter
retained.
Whilst it is appreciated that there is serious local concern on highway safety grounds,
this scheme has been the subject of careful scrutiny. The amendments have addressed
the Highway Authority’s concerns and they have no technical objections to this
development on highway safety grounds.
6.28 Amenity space.
Policy D3 of SOCS seeks to ensure that new dwellings should provide adequate private
outdoor space. The amount of land to be used for garden or amenity space will be
determined by the size of the dwelling and the character of surrounding development.
For a 1 bedroom unit the property the South Oxfordshire Design Guide advises that a
private amenity area should be provided of 35 square metres. For a flat or apartment
type development this could be a communal area for the enjoyment of residents.

Page 15

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 20 February 2019

In this case Unit 1, 2, 3 and 4 have access to their own private amenity space in the
form of a balcony space or area around the building. The remaining space 195 square
metres is provided for the rest of the units. The overall amount of amenity space is 269
square metres. Recent appeal decisions have not supported the strict imposition of the
recommended amenity space figures in the Design Guide when a development clearly
provides for some useable and reasonable amenity space. I have concluded the
provision is acceptable and appropriate for a scheme of small units.
6.29 Protected species.
Policy C8 of SOCS relates to protected species and states that development that would
have an adverse effect on a site supporting a specially protected species will not be
permitted unless damage to the ecological interest can be prevented through the use of
planning conditions or obligations.
The Council’s Ecologist has visited the site to make their own assessment of the impact
of the development and from that did not find any evidence of bat habitation in the
dwelling. They have concluded that there would no significant ecological impacts form
the development. They have however suggested that an informative is placed on the
decision notice that draws the applicant’s attention to the possibility that bats could be
using the roof space and stating their responsibilities and providing advice.
6.30 Impact on trees.
None of the trees within the site are protected by virtue of either a tree preservation
order or by being within a conservation area.
The application has been accompanied by a Tree Survey Survey which considers the
impact on trees within and outside of the site which is considered to be acceptable. The
planning condition that requires the development to be carried out in accordance with
the approved plans also stipulates that it shall be carried out in accordance with the
supporting information such as the tree survey which stipulates tree protection
measures.
6.31 Contamination.
Policy EP8 of SOCS states that development on contaminated land will not be
permitted unless the contamination is effectively treated by the developer to prevent
any harm to human health and wider environment.
The site has historically been occupied by 'old sand pits' and it is unknown if they were
infilled and if so the nature of the infill material. Residential developments are also
regarded as a particularly sensitive use to any land contamination.
6.32 The environmental search report and questionnaire are not considered sufficient to
meet the requirements of a Phase 1 report as specified in planning condition that has
been requested by the Councils Contaminated Land Officer. Whilst the submitted
documents accompanying the application may contribute useful factual information
about the site they do not include certain information that would be expected within a
Phase 1 Desk Study report such as a conceptual site model and preliminary risk
assessment establishing how the development, future occupants or the environment
could be impacted by any contamination associated with the former sand pits.

Page 16

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 20 February 2019

To ensure that the risk from any land contamination is addressed in accordance with
the Policy EP8 planning conditions are proposed as part this recommendation requiring
appropriate investigation and mitigation.
6.33 Community Infrastructure Levy.
The development is CIL liable and based on the floor space being provided would
amount to £55,657.09.
7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
The proposed development makes efficient use of the land available and would provide
8 smaller units. The lowered height of the building and the fall-back position contribute
to the very special circumstances in terms of the Green Belt that would support a
development that would have a greater impact on openness than the existing building.
Adequate levels of parking have been shown and the amended scheme ensures the
access arrangements and vision splays would be of an appropriate standard. Subject to
the attached conditions the proposal accords with the relevant development plan
policies.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION:
That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:

8.2

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.

Commencement within three years - full planning permission.
Approved plans.
Schedule of materials.
Contaminated land (preliminary risk assessment).
Contaminated land - remediation strategy.
Rooflights (specified cill level).
Prevention of overlooking – privacy screen.
Landscaping scheme (trees and shrubs only).
Vehicular access to Oxfordshire County Council specification.
Vision splay protection.
Parking and manoeuvring areas retained.
Levels to be agreed.

Author:
Mr. P Bowers
E-mail :
paul.bowers@southandvale.gov.uk
Contact No: 01235 422600

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

0

50

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

CH

AD
RO
H
C
UR

35

37

39

Kiln
se
Hou
46

47

or a
Cab sa
Bas

48
B
15/06/18 Red line amended
A
07/06/18 Red line amended
revision date
description
status

PLANNING
project title

Cabora Bassa, Church Road,
Sandford on Thames, OX4 4XZ

57

drawing title

LOCATION PLAN
client name

Elder Kennedy Ltd

52

first issued

drawn

05/06/18

1

IG

scale

1:1000 @ A3

16113 - L02 - B
The Studio, 70 Church Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ

01865 873936

Page 19

Site LOCATION PLAN

Appendix 1

info@andersonorr.com

www.andersonorr.com

Agenda Item 7

job/drawing no/revision

0

30

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

H ROAD
CHURC

39

35

37

46

47

Cabora
Bassa

Kiln
House

48

C
20/08/18 Minor amendments
B
10/08/18 rear elevation hipped
A
15/06/18 Red line amended
revision date
description
status

PLANNING

57

52

project title

Cabora Bassa, Church Road,
Sandford on Thames, OX4 4XZ
drawing title

BLOCK PLAN
client name

Elder Kennedy Ltd
1

Appendix 2

first issued

drawn

11/06/18

IG

scale

1:500 @ A2

job/drawing no/revision

16113 - PP0011 - C
The Studio, 70 Church Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936

info@andersonorr.com

www.andersonorr.com

Page 20

Description

Rev.

Date

Chkd

Glanville
Cornerstone House
62 Foxhall Road, Didcot
Oxon, OX11 7AD
Tel: (01235) 515550 Fax: (01235) 817799
postbox@glanvillegroup.com www.glanvillegroup.com
Client :

Elder Kennedy Ltd
Project :

Land at Carbora Bassa,
Church Road, Sandford-on-Thames OX4 4XZ
Title :

Site Access Visibility Splays
Page 21

5.0

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

Project Engineer :

B. East

Scale :

1:250 @ A3

Project Director :

T. Foxall

Date :

March 2018

Status :

Scale = 1:250 @ A3

Drawing No.

8180139/6101

Rev

D

0

10

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

A
PS0010
tp

A D
R O

C H
U R
C H

KEY

cha

k
inlin

f en c

ht 1
e (

. 20)

ge
folia

hatch indicating
proposed planting

Hedgerow cut back to
maintain visibilty

hatch indicating
planting to be retained

rumble strip
dash line indicating trees
to be removed

existing trees at Kiln House

4100

Key

existing hedge
to be removed

private property

bric
k
buil
ding
ridg
e l
eve
66.
l
90
eav
es
l eve
64.
46
l

"Bin Day" collection
point

3100

existing 1.8m high
closeboarded fence

proposed low
maintenance hornbeam

proposed 1.8m high
closeboarded fence

access road width 4.1m

existing hedge
to be removed
4100

existing 1.8m high
closeboarded fence
folia
ge

proposed landscaping

proposed 1.8m high
closeboarded fence

Refuse requirement
1440L - Provision 1760L
C

WASTE BIN STORAGE

PS0010

Recycling requirement
1920L - Provision 2200L

C
PS0010

10 parking spaces

2 no. SFD Semi Vertical Bike
Stands 10 no bikes in each
Kiln House

existing building to be
removed shown in red
F
E
D
C
B

B

B

PS0010

PS0010

proposed landscaped
border on eastern boundary

04/01/18
02/01/18
12/10/18
20/08/18
10/08/18

Hedge to western side of driveway removed
Minor adjustment to the access
Additional annotations
Minor amendments
rumble strip added boundary treatment
revised
A
19/07/18 Amendments to amenity spaces
revision date
description
status

PLANNING
project title

Cabora Bassa, Church Road,
Sandford on Thames, OX4 4XZ

previously approved PD
application shown in blue

drawing title

PROPOSED SITE PLAN
client name

Elder Kennedy Ltd
first issued

drawn

11/06/18

IG

scale

1:200 @ A2

job/drawing no/revision

amenity space

16113 - PP0010 - F
The Studio, 70 Church Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936

info@andersonorr.com

www.andersonorr.com

existing 1.8m high
closeboarded fence

Site Plan

A
PS0010

Page 22

en-suite

balcony

0

5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

c'd
dining

kitchen

bed
UNIT 8
landing

living

2m headroom
1.5m headroom

76 sqm

1.2m headroom

bath

SECOND FLOOR

UNIT 8

bed 1

bed 1

c'd

c'd
UNIT 6

UNIT 5

bath

62 sqm

62 sqm

bath

kitchen

kitchen

dining

c'd

UNIT 7

bath

44.6 sqm

living

kitchen

living

dining

dining

1.7m high privacy screen

1.7m high privacy screen

bed

balcony

balcony

living

FIRST FLOOR

balcony

dining

dining
living

living
entrance hall

kitchen

kitchen
c'd

c'd
hall

bed

bed
bath

bath

hall

UNIT 1

UNIT 2

51 sqm

51 sqm

hall

bed

UNIT 3

48 sqm

48 sqm

12/10/18 Amendments to bedrooms (units 5, 6 & 8)
19/07/18 Private amenity space increased & SE gable
amended to hip roof
revision date
description
status

PLANNING
project title

Cabora Bassa, Church Road,
Sandford on Thames, OX4 4XZ

hall
UNIT 4

B
A

drawing title

PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS
c'd

bath c'd

bed
bath

client name

Elder Kennedy Ltd
first issued

drawn

11/06/18

IG

scale

1:100 @ A2

job/drawing no/revision

kitchen

dining

dining
living

GROUND FLOOR

kitchen

16113 - PP0030 - B
The Studio, 70 Church Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936

info@andersonorr.com

www.andersonorr.com

living

Page 23

0

5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

lead dormer

red brickwork

blue/black slate

1.7m high
privacy
screen

fiber cement
cladding

render
fiber cement
cladding

red brickwork

North West

North East

lead dormer
blue/black slate

A

1.7m high
privacy
screen

red brickwork

19/07/18 Private amenity space increased & SE gable
amended to hip roof
revision date
description
status

PLANNING
project title

Cabora Bassa, Church Road,
Sandford on Thames, OX4 4XZ
drawing title

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

render

client name

Elder Kennedy Ltd
first issued

South East

drawn

11/06/18

South West

IG

scale

1:100 @ A2

job/drawing no/revision

16113 - PE0010 - A
The Studio, 70 Church Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936

info@andersonorr.com

www.andersonorr.com

Page 24

0

10

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

existing building to be
removed shown in red

previously approved PD
application shown in blue

Kiln House
1.8m high
closeboarded fence

SECTION A-A
1.8m high
closeboarded fence

proposed hedge

existing building to be
removed shown in red

Kiln House
Kiln House

SECTION B-B

SECTION C-C

D
20/08/18
C
19/07/18
B
12/06/18
A
12/06/18
revision date

Gable to SE elevation hipped
Amendments to amenity spaces
Kiln House side window amended
Kiln House side window added
description

status

PLANNING
project title

Cabora Bassa, Church Road,
Sandford on Thames, OX4 4XZ
drawing title

PROPOSED SECTIONS
client name

Elder Kennedy Ltd
first issued

drawn

11/06/18

IG

scale

1:200 @ A2

job/drawing no/revision

16113 - PS0010 - D
The Studio, 70 Church Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936

info@andersonorr.com

www.andersonorr.com

Page 25

revision date

description

project title

Cabora Bassa, Church Road,
Sandford on Thames, OX4 4XZ

3D View 1

job/drawing no/revision

16113 - VS0012 The Studio, 70 Church Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936

info@andersonorr.com

www.andersonorr.com

Page 26

A
20/08/18 Gable to SE elevation hipped
revision date
description
project title

Cabora Bassa, Church Road,
Sandford on Thames, OX4 4XZ
job/drawing no/revision

16113 - VS0014 - A
The Studio, 70 Church Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936

info@andersonorr.com

www.andersonorr.com

Page 27

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)

P18/S3143/O
OUTLINE
26.9.2018
THAME
David Dodds
Nigel Champken-Woods
Jeannette Matelot

SITE
PROPOSAL

DAF Trucks Ltd Eastern Bypass Thame, OX9 3FB
Hybrid planning application with:
Outline planning permission (all matters reserved
except for access) sought for demolition of existing
buildings and development of 1511 sqm (gross) of
offices within Class B1 and up to 129 dwellings
within Class C3 and associated works.

OFFICER

Full planning permission sought for erection of a 68
bed care home within Class C2 and associated
access, vehicular parking, landscaping, ancillary
infrastructure and other works.
Joan Desmond

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
This application is referred to the Planning Committee as the officer’s
recommendation conflicts with the views of Thame Town Council.

1.2

The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix 1)
comprises an area of 4.2ha and is known as Kingsmead Business Park. The site is
located to the east of Thame and is bounded by Howland Road. The business park
comprises a large warehouse and office building with associated car park which were
originally developed for DAF trucks. The site is now vacant as DAF trucks have
relocated to an alternative site. There is an established landscape buffer to the
southern boundary of the site (where it abuts the Phoenix Trail) and to the western
boundary where it abuts residential development.

1.3

There is a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) on an oak tree on the southern part of the
site.

2.0
2.1

PROPOSAL
This is a hybrid application which seeks:
1. Outline planning permission (all matters reserved except for access) for
demolition of existing buildings and development of 1511 sqm (gross) of offices
within Class B1 and up to 129 dwellings within Class C3 and associated works.
2. Full planning permission for the erection of a 68 bed care home within Class C2
and associated access, vehicular parking, landscaping, ancillary infrastructure
and other works.

2.2

The outline application seeks detailed consent for the access. The matters of
appearance, layout, scale and landscaping are reserved for consideration later.

Page 29

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

2.3

An indicative layout plan accompanies the outline application and this shows how the
site could accommodate the proposed level of development. Given that the application
for the new offices and dwellings is in outline, this is for indicative purposes only.
Vehicular access to the site would be from the existing junction with Howland Road and
this is the only aspect of the development that is detailed in the outline application
documents.

2.4

The application plans and documents have been amended during the application
process in response to comments received by our urban design officer, housing officer
and forestry officer. The most notable amendments involve the location of the public
open space/play areas, links to Phoenix Way and landscape strategy. The indicative
site layout is attached as Appendix 2.

2.5

The detailed application for the Care Home includes the same means of access and is
to be sited on the south east part of the site on the existing car parking area. The Care
home would provide 68 beds.

2.6

The hybrid application is accompanied by several supporting documents, including a
Design and Access Statement, Planning Statement and Marketing Report. These are
available to view on the council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0
3.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Thame Town Council – Object on the following grounds.
 The proposal is contrary to the Thame Neighbourhood Plan (TNP) Policy WS12
in proposing non-B1-B8 uses on an identified employment area;
 The principle of residential use only applies as far as the permitted development
scheme P17/S4127/PDO allows, and is not material to this comprehensive
proposal;
 The need for housing is less relevant to Thame than the need for available
employment land;
 The site available for purchase or rent has been deliberately made unattractive
to the market;
 Access to public transport is not as described within the applicant’s Transport
Assessment;
 The Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group have again objected to the care
home over concerns of the sustainability of local services to cope with the
inevitable rise in specific care needs.
CPRE - (Rights of Way) – Opportunity to divert part of Thame FP13 should be taken.
OCC Highways – No objection subject to conditions
OCC Education – The proposed development will increase the demands placed on
local infrastructure and services and will require funds from CIL to provide the increase
in acapacity needed.
OCC Archaeology – No objection subject to condition.
SODC Economic Development – Have concerns ragarding the loss of valuable
employment land but understand that the new employment would create jobs, albeit in
a different sector. Main concern is that the whole of the site has not been marketed.

Page 30

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

Urban Design Officer – I can support this application based on the information
submitted, but would recommend that the minor issues are reviewed to improve the
scheme to its best spatial response to the site.
Air Quality – No objection subject to conditions.
Environmental Protection – No objection subject to conditions.
Contaminated Land – No objection subject to condition.
Forestry Officer – No objection subject to conditions.
Drainage Officer– No objection subject to drainage conditions.
Countryside Officer – No objection subject to condition.
Housing Development – Vacant Building Credit (VBC) would apply in this instance
and 27.8 affordable dwellings would be required after the VBC is applied.
Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group – Object as development will put extra
strain on already stretched services.
Local residents and businesses:
2 representations raising the following concerns/issues:
 Overdevelopment
 Loss of bund and trees
 Contrary to TNP
 Noise and anti-social behaviuor form new footpath link
 Loss of wildlife habitat
One resident has no objection in principle to the development but has concerns relating
to overdevelopment, insufficient parking, traffic congestion, and loss of landscaping
whilst one resident has confirmed that they would have no objection to the loss of the
trees behind their boundary on Pickenfield.
One resident is in support of the application and recommends a footpath connection to
Lord Williams Lower School in Towersey Road.
Neighbouring business premises including B.O.C, Lucy Electric UK Ltd and Windles
Group Manufacturing Ltd – Raise a holding objection on the grounds that insufficient
information has been submitted to confirm the amenity of future residential occupiers
would not be unacceptably impacted by the existing prevailing noise environment.
Concerned about lack of a noise survey and a noise mitigation scheme to demonstrate
that unacceptable noise impacts for future residents are able to be mitigated. A further
letter has been submitted by IOM (acoustic experts) on behalf of BOC who request that
further statutory requirements and protection to nearby business need to be put in
place to offset any future noise related concerns, risks to B.O.C and any ensuing risk
issues and complaint likelihood are wholly eliminated. Request that a noise survey is
undertaken prior to determination of the application.
4.0
4.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P17/S4127/PDO - Approved (17/01/2018)
Change of use from offices (Class B1) to residential (Class C3) to comprise 45 flats
with ancillary facilities and parking.

Page 31

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

P17/S2624/PDO - Approved (08/09/2017)
Change of use from offices (Class B1) to residential (Class C3) to comprise 45 flats
with ancillary facilities and parking.
P15/S1637/O - Refused (13/07/2016)
Outline application for demolition of all existing buildings and erection of a foodstore
(A1 food), car park, PFS and Employment Development (B1).
4.2

Pre-application advice has been sought for the redevelopment of this site in 2017/18.

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) updated in July 2018 and the
associated NPPF Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

5.2

Adopted South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CSS1 - The Overall Strategy
CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSTHA1 - The Strategy for Thame
CSB1 - Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSC1 - Delivery and contingency
CSG1 - Green infrastructure
CSH1 - Amount and distribution of housing
CSH2 - Housing density
CSH3 - Affordable housing
CSH4 - Meeting housing needs
CSQ3 - Design
CSQ4 - Design briefs for greenfield neighbourhoods and major development sites
CSI1 - Infrastructure provision
CSM1 - Transport
CSM2 - Transport Assessments and Travel Plans

5.3

Adopted South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
C6 - Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8 - Adverse affect on protected species
C9 - Loss of landscape features
D1 - Principles of good design
D12 - Public art
E6 - Loss of employment uses
EP1 - Adverse affect on people and environment
EP2 - Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP6 - Sustainable drainage
EP8 - Contaminated land
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
G3 - Development well served by facilities and transport
R2 - Provision of play areas on new housing development
R6 - Public open space in new residential development
T1 - Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 - Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4

Made Thame Neighbourhood Plan (TNP)
The Thame Neighbourhood Plan (TNP) was ‘made’ (adopted as) part of the
Development Plan for South Oxfordshire in July 2013. Policy WS12 of the TNP seeks
retain existing employment land in employment use.

Page 32

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

5.5

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2033
The Council is preparing a new Local Plan, which will set out how development will be
planned and delivered across South Oxfordshire to 2033. The overall strategy in draft
policy STRAT1 includes supporting and enhancing the economic and social
dependencies between towns and villages; supporting the role of Thame and allowing
limited housing and employment development at smaller villages.
Due to the stage of preparation, the Emerging Plan can only be given limited weight.

5.6

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016
This guide sets out the standard that we expect developments to meet through a series
of checklists that relate to key design principles.

5.7

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA)
The proposal is beneath the thresholds set in Schedule 2 of the Town and Country
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 (as amended). This is
because the proposal does not exceed 150 homes, the site area is under 5ha and is
not within a ‘sensitive area’. It is therefore not EIA development.

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The relevant planning considerations in the determination of this application are:
 The principle of the development
 Matters of detail / technical issues;
- design and Layout;
- affordable housing and housing mix;
- traffic impact and highway safety;
- trees and ecology;
- neighbour amenity;
- impact on archaeology;
- flood risk and surface / foul drainage;
- environmental matters (air quality, contamination and noise).
 Infrastructure requirements:
- on-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement,
- contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy

6.2

The principle of the development
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

6.3

In the case of South Oxfordshire, the Development Plan consists of the South
Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) which was adopted in December 2012, and the
saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011.

6.4

The Thame Neighbourhood Plan (TNP) also forms part of the Development Plan and
was formally “made” in July 2013. Development which is not in accordance with an upto-date development plan should be refused unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

6.5

Policy E6 of the Local Plan and Policy WS12 of the TNP seek to retain existing
employment uses. Policy WS12 states that ‘existing employment sites outside the town
centre boundary must remain in employment use’. In relation to this policy employment
uses are deemed to be those falling within B1, B2 or B8 of the Use Classes Order.
However, the policy does allow for redevelopment of redundant employment sites if it
can be demonstrated that the use is no longer economically viable and, as part of this,
Page 33

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

the site should be marketed at a reasonable price for at least a year for the existing
employment uses or any other suitable employment or service trade uses. As the
conversion of the former DAF office building to residential use under ‘Permitted
Development Rights’ has been established (See history), the marketing of the former
DAF office building is not felt to be necessary.
6.6

The hybrid application proposes a housing-led mixed-use development, on the main
part of the site (2.9 ha) with an area specified for employment use which would
comprise office development of 1,511 square metres at the frontage to the site. The
remainder of the site would be used to provide the new care home. Although there is a
business element the proposed housing/residential led scheme conflicts with the TNP
policy WS12 and Policy E6 of the Local Plan, which seeks to retain existing
employment uses. As such, the development does not accord with policies in our upto-date Development Plan.

6.7

An Employment Viability Statement has been submitted including a marketing report.
The site has been extensively marketed since May 2017 and there has been no firm
interest for traditional employment uses, despite buoyant conditions in the
warehouse/industrial market in the M40 corridor. The distance of the site from the
motorway and the close proximity of surrounding housing are considered to be key
factors that have deterred potential occupiers. The report concludes that the viability of
continued use of the site for traditional employment purposes has been tested through
marketing over a significant period of time and on reasonable/flexible terms in
accordance with the requirements of policy E6 and WS12.

6.8

The Economic Development Manager has reviewed the report and has concerns
regarding the loss of valuable employment land but accepts that the new development
would create jobs, albeit in a different sector. The main concern is that the whole site
has not been marketed and as a result it could be argued that interest in the portion
marketed is being restricted by the extant prior approval to covert the existing office
building to residential use. This permission is nevertheless, a material planning
consideration and an appropriate marketing exercise has been carried out on the
warehouse element of the site and associated land. The site has been subject to a
continuous marketing campaign over an 18-month period which has concluded that
there is no demand for its allocated use. I consider therefore that it has been
demonstrated that the site is no longer economically viable and has been marketed at a
reasonable price for at least a year for the existing employment uses or any other
suitable employment or service trade uses in accordance with policies E6 and WS12. I
therefore have no objection to the principle of the development.
Matters of detail / technical issues:

6.9

Design and Layout
Paragraph 127 of the NPPF is clear that development proposals should function well
and add to the overall quality of the area; are visually attractive as a result of good
architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; are sympathetic to local
character and history and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and
have a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. Policy CSQ3 of the Core
Strategy encourages development of a high-quality design that responds positively to
and respects the character of the site and its surroundings. The design policies of the
Local Plan (particularly D1-D4) echo these requirements. A number of policies in
Thame Neighbourhood Plan relate to design including Policy ESDQ16 which states that
development must relate well to the site and its surroundings; Policy ESDQ17 expects
development to make a positive contribution towards the distinctive character of the

Page 34

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

town as a whole and Policy ESDQ 18 seeks the creation of a sense of place
appropriate to its location.
6.10 The layout of the proposed development is to be the subject of a reserved matters
application. However, the submitted Design and Access Statement sets out the main
design principles which include:
 Create a high quality, sustainable development
 Create a scheme with a locally inspired distinctive character
 Create well defined streets and spaces utilising the existing landscaping, with
well-defined and accessible areas of public open space
 Create a legible layout with a clear street hierarchy, corner turning dwellings and
focal buildings terminating key views
 Retain and enhance existing landscaping to the site boundaries and integrate
into the design in the form of accessible green edges with pedestrian/cycle
paths linking into the Phoenix Trail, existing footpaths and the proposed street
layout
 Extend the existing cycle path from Towersey Road through the application
site and link into the Phoenix Trail, adding pedestrian connectivity not only to the
site but to the developments to the north (Pickenfeld, Cheshire Rd and Whitle
Rd).
6.11 The Urban Design Officer (UDO) has commented that the overall principals of the site
are acceptable with an appropriate level of contextual analysis within the design and
access statement which reviews the positive aspects of neighbouring character areas
and their vernacular to inform the design of the architecture of the proposal going
forward. A key issue was raised however, in respect of the location of the play areas
which it was felt should be placed into a more positive central location away from the
entrance of the scheme. Other minor issues were raised in respect of parking courts
and pedestrian connection to ensure integration of the scheme into the adjacent
development context.
6.12

A revised illustrative masterplan has been submitted seeking to address these
concerns and illustrate that the quantum of development proposed can be satisfactorily
accommodated on the site. The open space area has been enlarged and enhanced
with links provided to the Phoenix Way. The UDO has commented that whilst the
location of the public open space is improved the revised apartment building is poorly
positioned and should be removed. Nevertheless, the UDO supports the application
but suggests that minor issues should be reviewed to improve the scheme to ensure
the best spatial response to the site. Overall, it is considered that the site is capable of
accommodating the quantum of development proposed but a note is recommended to
ensure that any reserved matters application improves the scheme as suggested.

6.13 The care home element of the scheme would front onto Howland Road with the
landscape buffer retained alongside the road. The design of the care home has been
amended to be more reflective of neighbouring development including the use of brown
fascia’s and verges as indicated on the visual drawing below.

Page 35

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

6.14 Affordable Housing and housing mix
Policy H10 of the TNP requires developers to submit a Thame specific affordable
housing and dwellings mix strategy with any planning application based on local
requirements. This should also be assessed in conjunction with the relevant housing
policies contained within the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS).
6.15 Policy CSH3 of the SOCS requires that 40% of the housing provision on the site is
provided as affordable housing and the tenure mix should comprise 75% social
rented and 25% intermediate housing. Policy CSH4 of the SOCS relates to a mix of
dwelling types and sizes.
6.16 The applicant has advised that Vacant Building Credit should be considered in
establishing the appropriate amount of affordable housing to be provided in accordance
with the NPPF, which advises (paragraph 63) that ‘ To support the re-use of brownfield
land, where vacant buildings are being re-used or redeveloped, any affordable housing
contribution due should be reduced by a proportionate amount’.
6.17 The Housing Development Officer has confirmed that Vacant Building Credit (VBC)
would apply in this instance and has calculated that 27.8 affordable dwellings would be
required after the VBC is applied. The applicant has thus agreed to provide 28
affordable housing units which equates to 22%. This provision would be achieved
through a S106 agreement.
6.18 In relation to the market mix, the indicative plan does not demonstrate a mix that would
accord with the Strategic Market Housing Assessment (SHMA) detailed below and no
Thame specific affordable housing and dwellings mix strategy has been submitted.
Nevertheless, the application for the housing element is in outline form and a condition
could ensure that a suitable mix is delivered along with an appropriate dwelling mix
strategy.
Market homes
SHMA

1 bed
6%

2 bed
27%

3 bed
43%

4+ bed
24%

Traffic impact and highway safety
6.19 The NPPF states that development proposals should that appropriate opportunities to
promote sustainable transport modes can be-or have been- taken up; safe and suitable
access can be achieved for all users and any significant impacts on the transport

Page 36

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

network, or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable
degree. It advises that ‘Development should only be prevented or refused on highway
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.’ Policy CSM1 of the Core
Strategy and Policy T1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) also require that
there would be no adverse impact on highway safety.
6.20 Whilst the application for the housing/office element is in outline form, the means of
access is unreserved. Vehicular access to the site would be from the existing junction
with Howland Road and this access would also serve the care home development. A
Transport Assessment has been submitted with the application which concludes that
the site is accessible to services in the area by a wide range of transport modes
including walking and cycling; suitable access, parking and services arrangements are
to be provided and that the development would have no material impact on the existing
operation of the local highway network.
6.21 OCC (Transport) has commented that the proposed access arrangements are suitable
subject to the access being narrowed in order to reduce speed of vehicles entering and
exiting the site. OCC were initially concerned about the number of parking spaces to
be provided for the care home but following supporting evidence from the applicant,
including survey data from ten other Care UK sites, OCC are now satisfied with the
parking provision proposed and with the surrounding roads having Traffic Regulation
Orders along them, the risk of on-street parking is minimised. To assist with pedestrian
movement, tactile surfacing is to be used across the care home site. OCC have no
objection to the application subject to appropriate highway conditions and contributions
towards highway works, public transport services, travel plan monitoring and right of
way improvements.
Trees and ecology
6.22 The Arboricultural Implications Report concludes that the arboricultural impact of the
scheme would be of negligible magnitude, and that the proposed development would
not have an adverse arboricultural impact on the character and appearance of the local
landscape or on the amenity or biodiversity that the existing trees provide.
6.23 The Forestry Officer has raised no objection to the application but comments that the
detailed layout will need to consider space for planting to help break up the uniformity
of any proposed layout and to enable additional planting along the south eastern
boundary to create a more attractive woodland edge. As the application is in outline
form, with landscaping reserved for latter consideration, an appropriate landscape
scheme could be secured at the reserved matters stage.
6.24 The NPPF encourages the protection and enhancement of biodiversity and advises that
if significant harm to biodiversity cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated, or, as a last
resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused (paragraph 175).
Policy CSB1 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy requires that damage to priority
habitats is avoided unless the importance of the development outweighs the harm and
the loss can be mitigated to achieve a net gain in biodiversity.
6.25 An ecological appraisal has been submitted with the application which concludes that
the majority of the site is of low ecological value. The Countryside Officer has
commented that the proposal would not have any significant impacts on important
habitats or species. The illustrative layout has the potential to ensure that the site can
deliver a no net loss for biodiversity and with careful planning could deliver a small net
gain.

Page 37

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

6.26 In light of the above, there is no evidence to suggest that there are any overriding
ecological constraints to the development of the site for residential purposes. The
proposals would deliver a net benefit for wildlife which could be secured through
appropriate planning conditions
Neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents
6.27 Policy D4 of the SOLP requires new development to secure an appropriate level of
privacy for existing residents. In terms of the outline application, layout is reserved for
later consideration. Based on the site context and indicative layout plan I am of the
opinion however, that the development could be achieved without any adverse impacts
on neighbours in terms of light, outlook and privacy.
6.28 In terms of the Care home element of the application, the care home would front onto
Howland Road and any reserved matters application on the adjoining land would seek
to ensure that there is an appropriate relationship with this building.
Impact on archaeology
6.29 Policy CON13 of the SOLP requires appropriate archaeological investigation for
developments that affect sites of archaeological importance. The site is located in an
area of archaeological potential. Whilst it is recognised that this site will have been
subject to some disturbance, archaeological deposits may survive in less disturbed
parts of the site. The County Archaeological Officer has therefore recommended a
condition to secure a programme of archaeological investigation.
Flood risk and surface / foul drainage
6.30 The application has been supported with a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) which states
that the site lies within Flood Zone 1 and as such is at low risk of flooding. The surface
water run-off would discharge to the existing surface water sewer using positive
drainage systems. The SuDs features would ensure excess water would be safely
contained within the site boundary up to and including the 1 in 100 year event plus
climate change. The FRA concludes that the development is not at risk of flooding and
can be safely carried out without increasing the risk of flooding to
downstream/surrounding properties.
6.31 The Council’s Senior Flood Risk Engineer considers the drainage strategy to be
reasonable and has raised no objection to the application subject to drainage
conditions.
6.32 In terms of foul drainage the foul drainage statement confirms that foul drainage would
be discharged to existing Thames Water infrastructure in the north west corner of
Kingsmead Business Park and a condition would ensure foul drainage details are
agreed.
Environmental matters (air quality, contamination, noise)
6.33 Policy EP1 of the SOLP seeks to secure mitigation measures to ensure that
developments do not have an adverse effect on the health and amenity of both existing
and future occupiers. Based on the size of the proposed development, basic good
practice design should be applied to this site in order to help mitigate against the air
quality impacts and the potential cumulative effects of piecemeal developments, and to
enable future proofing of the development.
6.34 The Environmental Health Officer has recommended conditions to control noise and
dust from the site so as to protect existing residents and has requested a noise
condition to protect future residents from the external noise environment in the area.
This follows concerns raised by nearby business uses (detailed above) about future

Page 38

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

noise related concerns, risks to the business and any ensuing risk issues.
Quality Officer has requested conditions to mitigate air quality impacts.

The Air

6.35 Policy EP6 of the SOLP sets out the council’s approach to development on
contaminated land. Preliminary Environmental Risk Assessments have been
submitted which identify that ground and gas contamination needs to be addressed
This could be secured by condition to ensure that any contaminative risks are
addressed during any development.
Infrastructure requirements
6.36 On-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement
On-site infrastructure can be secured through a legal agreement under S106 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). The S106 would secure the
following:
- delivery of the affordable housing
- contribution towards highway works -upgrading the junction of Kingsmead Road
with Howland Road
- contribution towards public transport services, travel plan monitoring and rights
of way improvements
- delivery of the on-site open space and play areas including a LAP and LEAP
- Provision of recycling / refuse bins - £170 per property
- Street naming and numbering - £134 per 10 dwellings
- Provision of public art - £300 per dwelling plus £10 per sq.m commercial
- S106 monitoring fee – £2,140
6.37 Given the concerns raised by OCCG regarding the likely impact on local health care
resources, the applicant has also agreed to pay £25,000 towards local health care
infrastructure.
6.38 I consider that these contributions / obligations accord with policy CSI1 of the SOCS,
which requires new development to be supported by appropriate on and off-site
infrastructure and services. They accord with the relevant tests in the NPPF as they
are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly
related to the development and are fair and reasonably related in scale and kind to the
development. They are further justified through policies D10 (waste) and D12 (public
art) of the SOLP.
Community Infrastructure Levy
6.39 The council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in 2016. The residential
element of the scheme (C3 use) would be CIL liable at a rate of £150 per sq.m. This
would exclude the floor space of the affordable homes as relief from the charge can be
claimed against these dwellings. The Care Home element (C2) use is exempt from CIL
as is the office element of the outline application. The money collected from the
development can be pooled with contributions from other development sites to fund a
wide range of infrastructure to support growth, including schools, transport, community,
leisure and health facilities.
7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
This application proposes a mainly residential development of a site that is allocated in
a Neighbourhood Plan for employment use. As such, the development is contrary to
the Development Plan. However, in this case, there are material considerations that
indicate that a decision should be taken that is not in accordance with the Development
Plan.

Page 39

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

7.2

The site has been subject to a continuous marketing campaign over an 18 month
period which has concluded that there is no demand for its allocated use. I consider
therefore that it has been demonstrated that the site is no longer economically viable
and has been marketed at a reasonable price for at least a year for the existing
employment uses or any other suitable employment or service trade uses in
accordance with policies E6 and WS12.

7.3

In accordance with the NPPF, applications for alternative uses should be supported
where the proposed use would contribute to meeting an unmet need for development in
the area. The proposal would contribute towards the housing needs in our district and
would add to our much-needed affordable housing stock.

7.4

The development would utilise a currently vacant brownfield site and is a location where
services and facilities would be available to future occupiers without reliance on
the private car. The development would add some further pressure to local roads but
the cumulative impacts on the road network would not be severe. Furthermore, the
development would have a limited landscape impact and a suitably designed scheme
could be achieved through a reserved matters application.

7.5

Solutions have been found to all technical matters and the development would not
result in any adverse impacts that would outweigh the benefits of bringing this
brownfield development back into efficient use. The NPPF requires local planning
authorities to approach decisions on proposed development in a positive and creative
way, and when considered against the development plan as a whole, the proposal
would represent a sustainable form of development bringing social and environmental
benefits.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION:
To delegate authority to grant planning permission to the Head of Planning
subject to:
i) The prior completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the affordable
housing, financial contributions and other obligations stated above, and
ii) The following conditions:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.

Approved plans.
Commencement within three years - full planning permission.
Commencement - outline with reserved matters.
Commencement - reserved matters approval.
Maximum number of dwellings.
Further details including materials.
Market housing mix (outline).
Levels (details required).
Sample materials required (walls and roof).
Existing vehicular access. *
Turning area and car parking.
Cycle parking facilities.
Construction traffic management.
Highways miscellaneous.
Foul drainage works (details required).
Travel information packs.
Biodiversity - protection of reptiles.
Electric vehicle charging points.
Contamination.

Page 40

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

20. Noise control.
21. Tree protection (detailed).
22. Landscaping (incl hardsurfacing and boundary treatment).
23. Archaeology (submission and implementation of WSI).
24. Hours of operation - construction/demolition sites.
25. Surface water drainage.

Author:
Contact No:
Email:

Joan Desmond
01235 422600
planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

Appendix 1
Page 43

Appendix 2

Page 44

C

Page 45

Page 46

Page 47

Page 48

Page 49

Page 50

Page 51

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBERS
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS
OFFICER

P18/S0002/O
Outline
2.1.2018
Pyrton
Anna Badcock
Beechcroft
Shirburn Road, Watlington, OX49 5BZ
Outline application for up to 37 Assisted Living
Units, provision of a Care Home and 4 staff
accommodation units (all matters reserved for future
consideration with the exception of access)
As clarified by alternative indicative layout and
additional information accompanying Agents letter
dated 18 June 2018.
Emma Bowerman

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
This application is referred to the Planning Committee as the officer’s
recommendation conflicts with the views of Pyrton Parish Council.

1.2

The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) is the
former Ministry of Defence (MoD) site on the corner of the B4009 and Pyrton Lane.
The site area is around 1.6 hectares. It is currently a storage and transfer facility but
has recently been used for crushing materials for use in construction.

1.3

There are two accesses to the site, from the B4009 and Pyrton Lane. Hedges mark
the boundaries to both roads. There is an existing dwelling called ‘The Bungalow’
between the application site and the B4009. This utilises the same access from the
B4009 as the application site.

1.4

The land to the north of the site is part of a Grade II Registered Park and Garden
associated with Shirburn Castle. There are several Grade II Listed structures within
the grounds, including a church, icehouse, rotunda and a statue. Shirburn Castle is a
Grade I Listed Building. The Castle and grounds are also part of Shirburn
Conservation Area.

1.5

To the immediate west of the site is an open field. Further to the west is the Grade II*
Listed Pyrton Manor and its grounds. Pyrton Manor, and much of the village of
Pyrton, fall within Pyrton Conservation Area. There are several other listed buildings
within this village.

1.6

The land to the east of the site is within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty (AONB). The edge of this designated area is the opposite side of the B4009.
To the south of the site is Watlington recreation ground.

1.7

The application site is within the parish of Pyrton. Pyrton are at an advanced stage in
the preparation of their Neighbourhood Plan, which has been independently
examined. The referendum on the Neighbourhood Plan will take place on 14 March
2019. If residents vote to adopt the Neighbourhood Plan it will then be presented to
the district council to be made as part of the Development Plan.

Page 53

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

1.8

The Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan has a site-specific policy for the application site,
which is referred to as site PYR1. This policy supports the principle of the
redevelopment of the former MoD site for residential development, subject to several
criteria.

1.9

The parish of Watlington boarders the south of the site. Watlington have a made
Neighbourhood Plan. Amongst other matters, the Watlington Neighbourhood Plan
aims to safeguard land for a re-aligned B4009 to the north and west of the town.

2.0
2.1

PROPOSAL
This application seeks outline planning permission for up to 37 assisted living units,
provision of a 60-bed care home and four staff accommodation units. The application
seeks detailed consent for the access. The matters of appearance, layout, scale and
landscaping are reserved for consideration later.

2.2

The application also safeguards land to the northeast of the site to facilitate a re-aligned
B4009. This land is not within the application site (outlined in red) but is within the
applicants control and is outlined in blue below:

2.3

An indicative layout plan accompanies the application, and this shows how the site
could accommodate the proposed level of development. Given that the application is in
outline, this is for indicative purposes only. Vehicular access to the site would be from
the B4009 and this is the only aspect of the development that is detailed in the
application documents.

2.4

The application plans and documents have been amended during the application
process in response to consultation comments made in relation to design and
landscape. Additional information was also submitted during the application process,
including an air quality assessment, contaminated land report, and biodiversity impact
calculations.

2.5

The indicative site layout is attached as Appendix B. For the sake of clarity, the
application does not propose the roundabout or any of the surrounding development
that is shown on the indicative layout. The application is purely for the development
within the red line application site boundary.

Page 54

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

2.6

The application is accompanied by several supporting documents, including a Design
and Access Statement and Planning Statement. These are available to view on the
council’s website at
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF
=P18/S0002/O#exactline

3.0
3.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Pyrton Parish Council – Opposed to the application and believes it should be refused,
raising the following concerns:
-

3.2

Shirburn Parish Council – Object with the following concerns:
-

3.3

lack of consideration of the Neighbourhood Plan context,
the submission fails to consider cumulative impact,
density far above what is considered suitable or appropriate,
development not in keeping with the pattern of loose knit development in the area,
proposal would result in a greater floor space than existing buildings on site and
would be higher than existing,
mass of the buildings would impinge upon the views to and from the AONB,
scale of development and increase in light pollution would cause substantial harm
to the rural and isolated settings of both Shirburn Registered Park and Garden and
the nearby Grade I and II Listed Buildings,
impact on Shirburn and Pyrton Conservation Areas,
the development would be contrary to policy CSR1 in terms of the scale of the
development relevant to the size of Pyrton,
could be perceived as a ‘Gateway Development’ and extend the built-up area of
Watlington,
the number of parking spaces provided and additional traffic generation,
increase in congestion and air pollution in Watlington,
no provision for affordable homes,
concerns regarding contamination,
the application should be a detailed submission and not an outline,
the edge road would add to car and traffic movements in the area.

overdevelopment,
harmful to the rural character of the area,
harmful to the surrounding heritage assets,
impact on views into and from the AONB,
precedent for future development,
additional traffic and impact on highway safety,
undermining the Neighbourhood Plan process,
contrary to the Neighbourhood Plan.

Watlington Parish Council – No objection, with the following comments:
-

efficient use of a brownfield site,
will create employment opportunities,
there is a need for the development,
more staff accommodation should be provided, and this could be affordable,
would like to see a pedestrian crossing to Station Road,
footpath linkages should be considered, and integrated green spaces,
this is an integrated whole in terms of architectural style,
this would be a ‘Gateway Development’ signifying the entry into the built-up-area of
Watlington,
a contribution should be provided to cover healthcare and transport,

Page 55

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

-

there needs to be a more detailed assessment of the impact of the development on
the Watlington Air Quality Management Area,
development should contribute towards Watlington Edge Road to mitigate air
quality impacts.

3.4

The Chilterns Conservation Board – Raised concern in relation to the illustrative plan
that was provided with the original submission. Commented that the development
would impact on the AONB boundary and recommended that the design of the built
form along the south eastern boundary be reviewed. Reiterated their comments in
relation to the consultation on the alternative indicative layout and suggested that the
land edged blue needs to be controlled by a landscaping condition.

3.5

Historic England – No comments received

3.6

Environment Agency – No objection subject to a condition

3.7

Thames Water Development Control – No objection

3.8

Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group – Object as no health impact has been
included as to the effect on the local health economy. The CCG would expect some
contribution to support local primary care services.

3.9

Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) Transport – No objection subject to conditions
and obligations.

3.10 South Oxfordshire District Council (SODC) Landscape – Comments provided by
two different landscape officers.
The officer who commented on the initial submission did not express any strong views
on the development and commented that the extent to which is complies or conflicts
with relevant policy is largely a matter of judgement, taking account of its positive and
negative aspects.
The officer who commented on the alternative illustrated layout objected to the proposal
due to concerns about the ability of the site to accommodate the proposed density of
housing without a significant harmful effect on landscape character and the setting of
the AONB.
3.11 SODC Conservation – No objection
3.12 SODC Forestry – No objection
3.13 SODC Countryside – Initially objected as the applicant had not provided sufficient
evidence to demonstrate how the proposals can deliver a net gain in biodiversity. No
objection following the submission of additional information, subject to a condition.
3.14 SODC Urban Design - Raised concern in relation to the illustrative plan that was
provided with the original submission. No objection following the submission of the
alternative illustrative plan and additional supporting information.
3.15 SODC Housing Development – No objection subject to the completion of a legal
agreement to secure a commuted sum towards off-site affordable housing.
3.16 SODC Drainage – No objection subject to conditions

Page 56

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

3.17 SODC Contaminated Land – Unable to comment on the initial submission as an
appropriate contaminated land assessment had not been submitted. No objection
following the submission of additional information, subject to a condition.
3.18 SODC Environmental Protection – No objection subject to conditions
3.19 SODC Air Quality – Referred to the cumulative impact of development in the locality
on the existing Air Quality Management Area in Watlington. Expressed support for the
County Council’s position on the edge road.
3.20 SODC Waste Management – No objection
3.21 Local Residents
Two received with the following concerns / recommendations:
- development is over intensive,
- additional pressure on services and facilities (health and drainage),
- compounds existing issues (traffic, parking and air quality),
- the development is in isolation of the Local Plan,
- biodiversity off-setting should be on-site,
- impact on highway safety,
- it would not be realistic for residents to walk to Watlington,
- pedestrian access should be provided through recreation ground,
- the speed limit should be reduced,
- should provide the roundabout for the edge road.
One received commenting that the site may have been used for the storage of
munitions during wartime.
4.0
4.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
There is only one relevant historic application within the site. This was an application
for a lawful development certificate in 2002 (ref: P02/S0324/LD). This confirmed the
lawful use of the site as falling under use class B8, which allows for the site to be used
as a warehouse and for the purposes of distribution.

4.2

There are two current applications within the wider area that are of relevance to the
application. To the north of the site there is an outline application pending for the
erection of up to 100 homes (ref: P16/S2576/O).

4.3

To the west of Watlington is a current hybrid application (ref: P17/S3231/O), for detailed
planning for 183 homes, and outline planning for 650 sq.m of office floorspace.

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Updated in July 2018 and the associated NPPF Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

5.2

Adopted South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1 - The Overall Strategy
CSH1 - Amount and distribution of housing
CSR1 - Housing in villages
CSH2 - Housing density
CSH3 - Affordable housing
CSH4 - Meeting housing needs
CSEN1 - Landscape protection
Page 57

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

CSEN3 - Historic environment
CSQ3 - Design
CSQ4 - Design briefs for greenfield neighbourhoods and major development sites
CSB1 - Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSG1 - Green infrastructure
CSI1 - Infrastructure provision
CSM1 - Transport
CSM2 - Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
CSC1 - Delivery and contingency
5.3

Adopted South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
C4 - Landscape setting of settlements
C6 - Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8 - Adverse affect on protected species
C9 - Loss of landscape features
CON5 - Setting of listed building
CON7 - Proposals in a conservation area
D1 - Principles of good design
D2 - Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3 - Outdoor amenity area
D4 - Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D6 - Community safety
D10 - Waste Management
D12 - Public art
E6 - Loss of employment uses
EP1 - Adverse affect on people and environment
EP2 - Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP3 - Adverse affect by external lighting
EP4 - Impact on water resources
EP6 - Sustainable drainage
EP8 - Contaminated land
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
G4 - Protection of Countryside
H4 - Housing sites in towns and villages
R2 - Provision of play areas on new housing development
R6 - Public open space in new residential development
T1 - Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 - Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4

Emerging Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan (PNP)
Pyrton Parish Council is working on a Neighbourhood Plan. Following the independent
examination of the Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan, the District Council has agreed that the
Plan should now proceed to referendum. The referendum will take place on 14 March
2019.
If residents vote to adopt the Neighbourhood Plan it will then be presented to the
District Council to be made as part of the Development Plan.
The key policies in the Emerging Neighbourhood Plan are:
BNE1: Historic Environment
BNE2: Landscape character
BNE5: Flood risk and drainage
C2: Development contributions
H1: New Homes
H2: Type of new homes

Page 58

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

D1: Detailed design criteria
SA1: Former MoD site (PYR1)
Given the stage in the preparation of the Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan, it can be given
significant weight.
5.5

Watlington Neighbourhood Plan (WNP)
The Watlington Neighbourhood Plan allocates three housing sites in an arc north and
west of the town. These will deliver a minimum of 238 new homes over the plan period.
The Neighbourhood Plan also safeguards land for an edge road to reduce the volume
of traffic in the town centre and lead to an improvement in air quality.
The map below is taken from the Watlington Neighbourhood Plan and shows the
allocated housing sites (A, B and C) and an indicative route for an edge road:

The application site is to the right of the map and the indicative route of the edge road
passes through the application site and is shown by a dashed green line.
The Watlington Neighbourhood Plan is a made Plan and therefore carries full weight.
5.6

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2032
The Council is preparing a new Local Plan, which will set out how development will be
planned and delivered across South Oxfordshire to 2033.
Policy TRANS3 of the Emerging Plan specifies land that is safeguarded for strategic
transport schemes. This includes land for a bypass for Watlington and the route is
shown on the map below:

Page 59

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

Due to the stage of preparation, the Emerging Local Plan can only be given limited
weight.
5.7

South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) 2016
This guide sets out the standard that we expect developments to meet through a series
of checklists that relate to key design principles.

5.8

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA)
The proposal is beneath the thresholds set in Schedule 2 of the Town and Country
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 (as amended). This is
because the proposal does not exceed 150 homes, the site area is under 5ha and is
not within a ‘sensitive area’. It is therefore not EIA development.

5.9

Other legislation and guidance
- Dept for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs - Clean Air Strategy 2019
- Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990
- Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000
- Landscape Capacity Assessment for Larger Villages (2015)
- The Chilterns AONB Management Plan
- Position Statement: Development Affecting the setting of the Chilterns AONB

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The relevant planning considerations in the determination of this application are:


The principle of the development



Matters of detail / technical issues:
- affordable housing,
- air quality,
- traffic impact and highway safety,
- landscape and character,
- heritage,
- trees and ecology,
- neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents,
- environmental matters (drainage, contamination and noise).



Infrastructure requirements:
- contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy,

Page 60

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

-

on-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement.

The principle of the development
6.2

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

6.3

In the case of South Oxfordshire, the Development Plan consists of the South
Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) which was adopted in December 2012, and the
saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011.

6.4

The Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan (PNP) does not currently form part of the Development
Plan as it has not been through a public referendum. However, given the advanced
stage in the preparation of the Plan, its policies can be afforded significant weight. This
is because the Plan has been independently examined and the District Council has
agreed to the modifications requested by the examiner. The referendum date is set for
14 March 2019.

6.5

Policy H1 of the PNP states that planning permission will be granted for residential
houses at the former MoD site (the application site) at a density that would not have an
adverse effect on the character of the area and on the Parish’s heritage assets.

6.6

Policy SA1 of the PNP reiterates that the redevelopment of the application site for
residential development, along with associated landscaping and infrastructure works,
will be supported in principle subject to a number of criteria relating to environmental
and amenity considerations. I therefore consider that the principle of the
redevelopment of this brownfield site, for a care home and assisted living units, is
acceptable.

6.7

The criteria for development that are listed in policy SA1 are considered in the relevant
sections of this report. For completeness the criteria (a to e) are set out below and I
have added comments in relation to each criterion in red:
a. Consultation takes place with the local community from the outset and
throughout the planning process. Any planning application should explain the
nature of the consultation so far undertaken, the percentage of parishioners
involved, the views of parishioners, and how those views have been taken into
account in formulating a development proposal.
The application is accompanied by a Statement of Community
Involvement. This states that meetings took place with Pyrton and
Watlington Parish Councils and Neighbourhood Plan Groups prior to
submission. A public exhibition was also held at Pyrton Village Hall.
Around 60 people attended and 11 completed comments forms. Following
this consultation, the number of assisted living units was reduced from 45
to 37.
b. Affordable housing will be sought in line with SODC’s adopted requirements,
subject to viability.
A commuted sum of £1,071,076 would be secured from this development
to contribute towards meeting housing needs in the district.

Page 61

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

c. Vehicle access to the site is off the Shirburn Road (B4009), as now.
The vehicular access for the development is off the B4009 in the position
of the existing access.
d. Design and access statement as required by SODC’s adopted Validation
Checklist, should be prepared and submitted as part of any application. In
addition to the statutory expectations for a design and access statement, the
statement should:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

v.

Draw on relevant precedents and demonstrate how and why they are
related to the proposed development, and how these have influenced
the proposal in formulating an appropriate scheme;
Include sufficient drawings, photomontages, viewpoints and illustrations
to allow a realistic appreciation of the proposal;
Explain how and why the building types, scale, appearance and
materials have been selected and are appropriate for the environment;
Demonstrate how the proposed development responds to on-site and
surrounding heritage, landscape and environmental opportunities /
constraints / designations. In particular, proposals should demonstrate
how management of the existing boundary vegetation would maintain
the visual containment of the site and lighting management would
reduce light pollution from the site.
Demonstrate a prospective net gain in biodiversity on the site through
appropriate ecological surveys.

The application is accompanied by a detailed Design and Access
Statement. This includes a local character analysis, a constraints and
opportunities plan, and parameter plans. A green infrastructure plan
shows that the boundary vegetation would be retained. The development
would not achieve a net gain in biodiversity but would provide appropriate
mitigation.
The level of information submitted is sufficient to determine the
application and additional details (including lighting) would be needed at
reserved matters stage, when the appearance, landscaping, layout and
scale of the development are considered.
e. Planning applications must take into account the recommendations of the
SODC Landscape Capacity Study (2015) in relation to this site and be
accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment.
The proposal does not accord the recommendations in the Landscape
Capacity Study. The application is accompanied by a Landscape and
Visual Impact Assessment which contends that a higher quantum of
development than is indicated in the Landscape Capacity Assessment is
acceptable.
Affordable housing
6.8

Policy CSH3 of the SOCS requires developments to provide 40% affordable housing,
which should generally be provided on site. In this case, given the type of
accommodation proposed, the council’s affordable housing team have agreed that a
commuted sum can be paid in lieu of on-site provision. This will be used meet housing
needs in the district.

Page 62

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

6.9

Following negotiations with the housing team, the applicant has agreed to pay an
affordable housing contribution of £1,071,076. This will be secured through a legal
agreement, with a trigger to be paid prior to the occupation of the 17th assisted living
unit.

6.10 Subject to the completion of a legal agreement I am satisfied that the development
would make an appropriate contribution towards the provision of affordable homes in
the district.
Air quality
6.11 The road network around Watlington is sensitive and there are traffic pressures on the
town centre that cause congestion and have a negative impact on air quality. The air
pollution problem in Watlington is based on congestion levels in an area of narrow
streets and relatively high sided buildings creating a ‘street canyon’ effect with
pollutants unable to disperse effectively.
6.12 Watlington town centre is one of three Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) within
South Oxfordshire. AQMAs are designated when the levels of pollutants in the air have
reached those identified by the government as harmful to health and are in breach of
what is called the ‘national air quality objectives.’ Watlington AQMA was designated in
2009 due to annual exceedances in national air quality objectives for nitrogen dioxide.
6.13 The developments that are proposed around Watlington would add further traffic
pressure to the already congested town centre. The cumulative impact of the
developments around Watlington would have a severe adverse impact on the declared
AQMA.
6.14 It is therefore essential that appropriate mitigation is secured to ensure that air quality in
the town centre does not deteriorate further as a result of growth around Watlington.
The proposed development would provide mitigation in the form of land for the
construction of an alternative route.
6.15 This alternative route - ‘the edge road’ - would reduce the additional pressure on the
town centre and would mitigate the air quality impact of this development and future
growth around Watlington. The edge road may also have a further positive impact by
improving the current poor air quality in the town centre.
6.16 The proposed development would provide an opportunity to mitigate the impacts of the
development and improve air quality. This would accord with para.181 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). Policy EP1 of the SOLP also requires mitigation
measures to be implemented in cases where polluting emissions would have an
adverse effect on people.
6.17 Given the traffic pressures on the town centre, and the resultant impacts on air quality,
both County and District officers are supportive of the edge road and consider its
provision to be necessary to facilitate growth around Watlington.
6.18 The application is accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment which recommends a
number of on-site mitigation measures. These include the provision of cycle parking,
electric vehicle charging points and low nitrogen oxide boilers. These measures can be
secured by condition. A welcome pack for future residents, containing public transport
information, is also recommended. This would be included as part the highway officers
recommended Travel Plan condition.

Page 63

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

Traffic impact and highway safety
6.19 The lawful use of the site is for storage / warehousing and some traffic movements will
be associated with this existing use. The County Council highways officer has
considered the vehicle movements that would result from the level of development
proposed and has confirmed that the proposal would increase trip generation at the
site.
6.20 Due to the sensitive nature of the local road network any increase in levels of traffic
could result in a significant impact. Mitigation of this impact is therefore necessary and
the contribution from this site towards the provision of the edge road would provide an
appropriate level of mitigation.
6.21 The applicant has agreed to transfer land to the County Council for the edge road. This
land transfer has been agreed for a fee of £1 and can be secured through the
provisions of a S106 legal agreement. The land that would be transferred would
provide sufficient space for the construction of a roundabout.
6.22 Access to the proposed development would be taken from the B4009. A priority
junction is proposed and includes pedestrian provision linking to the existing footway.
The proposed access would be located a sufficient distance from the adjacent junction
of Pyrton Lane and any future roundabout, with an appropriate level of visibility
available.
6.23 The details of the road layout within the site would be subject to a reserved matters
application. The detailed layout of parking spaces would also be considered at
reserved matters stage.
6.24 There is a reasonable level of accessibility by sustainable transport modes and the
majority of Watlington is within a reasonable walking distance from the site. This would
provide potential for staff to live locally and walk to work. Both staff and residents
would have access to shops, services and public transport links.
6.25 Subject to appropriate conditions, I am satisfied that the impact of the development on
the local highway network would be acceptable. Recommended conditions include a
Construction Traffic Management Plan, which can route construction traffic from the
north to avoid the congested town centre.
6.26 On the basis of this assessment I have no objection to the development in relation to
traffic and highways matters and I consider that the proposal would comply with the
relevant Development Plan policies. This includes policy CSM1 of the SOCS and
policy T1 of the SOLP, which encourage and support the use of sustainable transport
modes and require a safe and convenient access to the highway network.
Landscape and character
6.27 The appearance of the site currently detracts from the character of the area. The main
building on site is a large steel framed structure with a corrugated roof and large upand-over doors. There are a series of low quality single storey ancillary structures
around the site, which is littered by skips and piles of building waste.
6.28 Whilst the site lies outside the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), it
is very close to the boundary (separated by the width of the B4009) and is inter-visible
with it. The site is therefore considered to fall within the setting of the AONB, although

Page 64

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

the site itself does not exhibit many of the special qualities of the AONB that contribute
towards its scenic beauty.
6.29 Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act requires regard to be paid to the
purposes of conserving and enhancing the AONB. The terminologies are slightly
different but policy CSEN1 of the SOCS and para.172 of the NPPF seek broadly similar
objectives.
6.30 A number of other Development Plan policies aim to protect the character of the
countryside, including policies G2 and G4 of the SOLP. Together, policies CSQ3 of the
SOCS, and D1-D4 of the SOLP seek to ensure developments contribute to a sense of
place, respond to local character and are of an appropriate design.
6.31 The PNP also contains policies that are concerned with the protection of the landscape
and securing developments that contribute to the character of the area. This includes
policy BNE1, which seeks to ensure that the distinctive landscape character of the
parish is protected and enhanced. Policy D1 provides detailed design criteria and
policy H2 of the PNP requires new housing to be in keeping with the character of the
area.
6.32 In 2015, the application site was assessed in the Landscape Capacity Assessment for
Sites on the Edge of the Larger Villages of South Oxfordshire. The study considers the
area to possess “medium/high” landscape value, citing its proximity to both the
Chilterns AONB and nearby heritage assets. As a result, the study assesses the
landscape capacity of the site as “medium/low”.
6.33 The study concludes that “the site could be considered further as a potential site option
provided that any development is no higher than the existing and the mass and scale of
the built form is reduced.”
6.34 The existing warehouse is 7.5m high. The proposed buildings would be a maximum of
2 storeys high (10m to ridgeline), with the care home at two storeys and the assisted
living units at 1.5 - 2 storeys. The development would also result in a significant
increase in the footprint of built development across the site.
6.35 The proposed development would therefore not align with the recommendations in the
Landscape Capacity Assessment. The proposed care home, 37 assisted living units,
and four staff flats are not consistent with the quantum of development suggested or
the advised reduction in the massing and scale of built form on site.
6.36 The proposed built development would exceed the height and extent of the existing
buildings on the site by a substantial margin. As a result, the proposals would increase
the influence of built development, creating a cluster of development that is set apart
from the built-up area of Watlington.
6.37 This impact would be discernible, for example, in the view from Watlington Hill.
Although the relative impact on the character of such panoramic views would be “very
low”, the views are cited in the AONB Management Plan as one of the special qualities
of the AONB. Impacts on such views are therefore a material consideration.
6.38 The acceptability of the scheme in landscape terms depends on the relationship
between the benefit to site character (due to removal of the existing use and structures)
and the harm to views and wider landscape character (due to the visibility of the
proposed buildings). Although mitigation would be provided by the retained and
proposed vegetation, a degree of residual harm is predicted to remain.

Page 65

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

6.39 The acceptability of the scheme is clearly a matter of balance, but in undertaking that
exercise, the NPPF makes clear that conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic
beauty in AONBs is a matter of great weight. The negative landscape harm that would
result from the development must be weighed up against the positive aspects of the
development and this exercise is carried out in the planning balance section below.
6.40 A further factor to add is if the development on adjoining land proceeds, the immediate
setting of the site would change significantly. The parcel of farmland that separates the
site from the edge of Watlington would be replaced by built development, which would
be perceived as an extension to Watlington. The site would thereby occupy a
settlement-edge location, rather than being wholly surrounded by open land as at
present.
6.41 In terms of the design and layout within the confines of the site, the council’s urban
design officer has provided guidance on the layout of the development. Following the
submission of an alternative indicative plan, the design officer is satisfied that a suitable
layout could be achieved at reserved matter stage.
Heritage
6.42 There are a number of designated heritage assets in the vicinity of the application site.
To the immediate north of the site is the Grade II Listed Shirburn Castle Registered
Park and Garden (RPG) and the Shirburn Conservation Area, which covers much of the
same area as the RPG. Pyrton Conservation Area lies around 400m to the west and
Watlington Conservation Area around 300m to the south.
6.43 There are also a number of listed buildings within the vicinity of the site. These include
the Grade I Listed Shirburn Castle, Grade II* Pyrton Manor and Grade II* Church of St
Mary (in Pyrton). The listed building closest to the site is 62 and 64 Shirburn Road, a
Grade II listed building in Watlington, some 360m from the site.
6.44 In considering whether to grant planning permission, the statutory test in section 66 (1)
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires the
decision maker to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the setting of
listed buildings. In relation to conservation areas, section 72 (1) of the Act requires
special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character
of appearance of that area.
6.45 Although the application site forms part of the wider setting of Shirburn RPG, the site
does not contribute to the RPG’s special interest. The significance of Shirburn RPG is
derived from the inherent architectural and historical interest of its buildings, notably
Shirburn Castle itself, and the deliberately secluded landscape created around them.
6.46 There is no inter-visibility between the listed buildings in the RPG and the application
site. There is also no historical or functional relationship between the two. As such, I
am satisfied that the application site is not an aspect of the wider setting of the RPG
and associated listed structures that contributes meaningfully to their significance.
6.47 The application site is inward turning and secluded from the wider landscape. It is well
screened from Pyrton Lane and Shirburn Road by vegetation. The demolition of the
existing building on the application site would cause no harm to the RPG’s significance.
6.48 I am satisfied that an appropriately detailed development on the site, which
incorporates high quality materials, would have a negligible impact on the setting of

Page 66

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

these nearby heritage assets. The proposed development would not result in any harm
to the significance of Shirburn RPG or that of Shirburn Conservation Area.
6.49 Pyrton and Watlington Conservation Areas are a greater distance from the application
site. Given that the site is secluded from the wider landscape I am satisfied that the
replacement of the industrial building on site, with a care home and assisted living units,
would have a negligible impact on these heritage assets and cause no harm to their
significance.
6.50 In terms of the impact on the individual listed buildings in the locality, the introduction of
significant levels of lighting could impact on the setting of Pyrton Manor. This Grade II*
listed building was architecturally designed to take in the long views of the Chilterns and
as such, all its main windows face east towards the application site. It will therefore be
important to ensure that the level of lighting is appropriate, and this can be agreed
through a condition.
6.51 Given the sensitivity of this site, a reserved matters application would need to
demonstrate a high-quality design, which utilises the very best materials. A scheme for
an appropriate lighting strategy could be submitted at reserved matters stage, or
alternatively could be submitted as a separate request as a discharge of condition.
6.52 Subject to the approval of these details, I am satisfied that the special interest of
surrounding heritage assets would be preserved as a result of the development. This
would accord with the relevant Development Plan policies which seek to conserve and
enhance heritage assets and their settings for their important contribution to local
distinctiveness, character and sense of place. This includes policies CSEN3 of the
SOCS, CON5 and CON7 of the SOLP, and also BNE1 of the PNP.
Trees and ecology
6.53 The trees within the site are not protected by a tree preservation order or a
conservation area. The hedging / trees growing around the perimeter of the site vary in
arboricultural quality, but they do provide valuable screening of the existing building and
would do the same for any future re-development.
6.54 The illustrative layout would allow for the retention of most of the trees growing around
the perimeters. Subject to suitable tree protection measures being secured by
condition, I have no objection to the development from an arboricultural perspective.
6.55 The detailed site layout must provide sufficient space for a realistic planting scheme
that would help to soften the built form for residents of the units and add to the
screening of the development from wider views. Landscaping plans need to be
designed in unison with housing layouts as well as all other drainage, service routes,
highway layouts, vison splays and lighting layouts to avoid conflicts that would prevent
the planting from being implemented or becoming established in the future.
6.56 A robust landscaping scheme would need to be provided at reserved matters stage.
Subject to the agreement of appropriate details through a future application I am
satisfied that the development would accord with the relevant parts of policies CSEN1
of the SOCS and Policy C9 of the SOLP, which seek to resist the loss of important
landscape features and require measures to integrate development into the landscape.
6.57 With regards to ecology, the submitted surveys have not identified any significant
populations of protected species or habitats of importance within the site. However, the

Page 67

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

scheme would lead to a net loss of biodiversity on site, which policy CSB1 of the SOCS
seeks to avoid.
6.58 The applicant has submitted Biodiversity Impact Calculations to quantify the level of
biodiversity that would be lost as a result of the scheme. The council’s countryside
officer has considered these calculations and confirmed that the proposal would result
in the loss of 0.53 biodiversity units.
6.59 Given the low value of the existing habitats on site the loss would be valued at £8,000
per unit. In addition to this, a 15% levy would need to be included in any contribution to
cover the costs of administering the offset. This would result in a total contribution of
£4,876 to compensate and mitigate for the net loss of biodiversity resulting from the
development.
6.60 Subject to the developer entering into a biodiversity offsetting scheme delivered
through an offsetting provider, I am satisfied that the proposal would comply with policy
CSB1 of the SOCS. This can be achieved through a condition requiring the submission
of a certificate confirming the agreement of an offsetting provider to deliver the required
biodiversity units.
Neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents
6.61 As the application is in outline, the position and scale of the development is not fixed.
The layout of the proposal may change at reserved matters stage and the impact on
neighbouring properties will be carefully assessed under any future application.
6.62 Based on the indicative layout, the distance to neighbouring properties, and the
intervening screening, I believe the development could be achieved without any
adverse impacts on neighbours in terms of light, outlook and privacy. This would
accord with policy D4 of the SOLP, which requires new development to secure an
appropriate level of privacy for existing residents.
6.63 Policy D3 of the SOLP requires all new homes to benefit from either a private garden,
outdoor amenity space or a shared amenity area. Based on the indicative plans, I am
satisfied that a suitable layout could be achieved that would provide an appropriate
level of outdoor space for future residents.
Environmental matters (drainage, contamination and noise)
6.64 The application site is within Flood Zone 1 (least probability of flooding). The council’s
drainage engineer has considered the submitted Flood Risk and Drainage Assessment
and has raised no objection to the development subject to conditions.
6.65 Thames Water have commented that they have no objection with regards to sewerage
infrastructure capacity. They have also confirmed that based on the submitted Flood
Risk Assessment and drainage strategy that they do not have concerns with the
proposed foul gravity discharge and proposal to drain surface water via infiltration
methods.
6.66 Subject to suitable conditions to secure appropriate foul and surface water drainage
details I have no objection to the development in relation to drainage. I am satisfied
that solutions can be found to ensure that the development does not impact on surface
water resources, in accordance with policies EP6 of the SOLP.

Page 68

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

6.67 In relation to contamination, the submitted site investigation report identifies asbestos
and Benzo(a)pyrene contamination and makes recommendations for further
investigations to quantify remaining uncertainties in ground conditions beneath the
buildings.
6.68 The councils contaminated land officer has recommended conditions requiring a
phased risk assessment to ensure that any contamination is identified and adequately
addressed. A remediation strategy and remediation report would also be required.
6.69 The Environment Agency have recommended a further condition to appropriately deal
with contamination not previously identified. Subject to the imposition of these
conditions I am satisfied that the proposal would comply with policy EP8 of the SOLP,
which requires contamination to be effectively treated.
6.70 As recommended by the council’s environmental protection officer, conditions are
necessary in relation to the control of noise and dust. Given the scale of the
development, I consider that a construction hours condition should also be applied.
6.71 The council’s environmental protection officer has also requested details of a scheme to
protect future residents of the development from the external noise from the road and
adjacent sports ground. Subject to the imposition of these conditions I consider that the
development would comply with policy EP2 of the SOLP, which seeks to ensure that
developments do not have an adverse impact on existing or new occupiers in terms of
noise.
Infrastructure requirements
Off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy
6.72 The council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in 2016. This enables
money to be collected from certain types of development to be pooled together with
other developments to fund a wide range of infrastructure to support growth, including
schools, transport, community, leisure and health facilities.
6.73 The adopted CIL charging schedule sets a nil CIL rate for care homes. The proposed
care home would therefore not be required to make a CIL payment.
6.74 The charging schedule also sets a nil CIL rate for ‘Residential – retirement housing
including extra care incorporating independent living (C3)’. The schedule specifies that
this applies to ‘all types of housing designed for older people which provides for
continued independent living which is self-contained such as, but not limited to, Extra
Care Housing, Enhanced Sheltered Housing in independent living in a Care Village’.
6.75 The applicant will need to enter into a legal obligation to ensure that appropriate
restrictions are applied to control how the assisted living element of the development
functions. This will include the following:
-

an age restriction for future residents,
that future residents would be required to undertake an independent care needs
assessment,
that care packages are provided and administered by the care home to meet the
needs of the occupants of the assisted living units – including personal care,
laundry, meals and housekeeping.

Page 69

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

6.76 The council will need to be satisfied that there is a link between the provision of care
and use of the assisted living units. The requirement for residents to be assessed prior
to entry and to sign up to receive a minimum care package will be key to this. On the
basis that appropriate restrictions are secured through a legal obligation the assisted
living element would also have a nil CIL rate.
6.77 The four staff flats that a proposed as part of this development would be CIL liable at a
rate of 150 per sq.m (index linked).
On-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement
6.78 On-site infrastructure can be secured through a legal agreement under Section 106 of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). A S106 legal agreement
would secure the affordable housing commuted sum and the land for the County
Council, as outlined above.
6.79 In accordance with the council’s S106 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning
Document, the following additional financial contributions would be required towards
on-site infrastructure:
-

Provision of recycling / refuse bins - £170 per property – Index RPIX Nov 2016
(indicatively £6,970)

-

Street naming and numbering - £134 per 10 dwellings - Index RPIX Nov 2016
(indicatively £536)

-

Provision of public art - £300 per dwelling – Index RPIX Nov 2018 (indicatively
£12,300)

-

S106 monitoring fee - £610 to be paid on completion of agreement

6.80 On the basis that the council is satisfied that the care home and assisted living units
would generate a nil CIL rate, a S106 would also need to secure a financial contribution
to mitigate the impact of the development on health services in the local area. An
indicative financial contribution of £48,240 (calculated on bedroom numbers) would be
required to support primary care services.
6.81 I consider that these contributions / obligations accord with policy CSI1 of the SOCS,
which requires new development to be supported by appropriate on and off-site
infrastructure and services. They accord with the relevant tests in the NPPF as they
are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly
related to the development and are fair and reasonably related in scale and kind to the
development.
7.0
7.1

PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION
The Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan supports the principle of the redevelopment of the site
for a residential development. As such, there is no overriding conflict with the Emerging
Neighbourhood Plan in terms of the principle of the development.

7.2

However, the scale and extent of development exceeds the recommendations in the
Landscape Capacity Study. The proposal has not fully taken into account the
recommendations in the Study, which is one of the specific criterion outlined in the PNP
policy SA1 for the redevelopment of the site.

Page 70

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

7.3

The site itself does not form part of the countryside in terms of its appearance or use. It
is however, largely in a countryside setting. Whilst the proposals would enhance the
character of the site, the resulting increase in built development would have an adverse
effect on the setting of the AONB, which is afforded the highest level of protection. This
harm weighs against the development.

7.4

The benefits of this development include the provision of land for the edge road around
Watlington. The delivery of this alternative route could have significant positive impacts
in terms of reducing traffic congestion in Watlington town centre and improvements in
air quality. A reduction in through traffic would also create a more pedestrian friendly
environment in the town centre.

7.5

The development would provide for a specialist type of residential accommodation and
would secure a sizable contribution towards the provision of off-site affordable housing,
to help meet housing needs in the district. The care home would also provide jobs and
support the economy. I consider that significant weight should be attached to the
benefits that would result from the grant of planning permission.

7.6

The proposal would result in the efficient beneficial reuse of a brownfield site and this
needs to be balanced against the planning aim to protect the countryside, particularly
designated AONBs. Overall, I consider that the significant benefits of the development
would outweigh the harm that would be caused to the landscape.

7.7

When considered against the Development Plan as a whole, I am satisfied that the
proposal represents a sustainable form of development.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION:
To delegate authority to grant planning permission to the Head of Planning
subject to:
i) The prior completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the affordable
housing commuted sum, financial contributions and other obligations stated
above, and
ii) The following conditions:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.

Approval of reserved matters – appearance, landscaping, layout and scale.
Timeframe for submission of reserved matters.
Commencement.
Development to accord with approved plans.
Cycle parking.
Electric vehicle charging points.
Low NOx boilers.
Access prior to first occupation.
Construction traffic management plan.
Travel plan (including travel info pack).
Lighting scheme.
Tree protection.
Landscape management.
Biodiversity offsetting.
Surface water drainage.
Foul water drainage.
Phased contaminated land assessment.
Remediation strategy and remediation report for contamination.
Remediation of unsuspected contamination.

Page 71

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

20. Measures to control noise and dust.
21. Construction hours.
22. Scheme to protect future residents from noise.

Author:
Emma Bowerman
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:
planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 72

Agenda Item 9
Appendix A - OS extract

Page 73

Appendix B - Indicative layout

Page 74

Agenda Item 10
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBERS
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL
AMENDMENTS
OFFICER

P18/S2664/FUL
FULL APPLICATION
3.9.2018
WARBOROUGH
Felix Bloomfield
Sue Cooper
Soha Housing Ltd
St Lawrence House, St Lawrence Close,
Warborough, Wallingford, OX10 7EY
Demolish 15 flats/bedsits and erect 12 flats with
associated parking and landscaping.
As clarified by additional information from Agent
received 23 October 2018 and 10 January 2019
Emma Bowerman

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
This application is referred to the Planning Committee as the officer’s
recommendation conflicts with the views of Warborough Parish Council.

1.2

The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A)
contains an L-shaped building which was constructed in the early 1970’s. The
building accommodates 15 flats / bedsits and these are managed and maintained by
Soha Housing.

1.3

The building is located at the end of a cul-de-sac in a residential area. There are
neighbouring properties on all sides of the site. There is a communal garden to the
rear of the building and flat roofed garages / parking bays to the front.

1.4

The site is within Oxford Green Belt. The north and east boundaries boarder
Warborough Conservation Area. Warborough and Shillingford have a made
Neighbourhood Plan and the site is within the Neighbourhood Plan Area.

2.0
2.1

PROPOSAL
This application seeks full planning permission to demolish the existing block of flats to
provide 12 new apartments. The existing vehicular access from St Lawrence Close
would be maintained. The existing flat roofed garages would be replaced by a parking
courtyard.

2.2

The development would provide 6 x one-bed units and 6 x two-bed units. The
proposed external materials are brick walls and a plain tiled roof.

2.3

Additional information was submitted during the application process to clarify the extent
of the highway boundary.

2.4

The application plans are attached as Appendix B. The application is accompanied by
supporting documents, including a Design and Access Statement and Planning
Statement. These are available to view on the council’s website at:
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF
=P18/S2664/FUL

Page 75

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

3.0
3.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Warborough Parish Council - Objects on the basis that the development would not
conform with a number of Neighbourhood Plan Policies, in relation to:
-

3.2

Design and the impact on the conservation area
The level of parking provision
That is has not been demonstrated that the housing stock benefits will outweigh the
reduction in units
Soha Housing have not given binding commitment that the units will continue to be
let as social housing
The applicant has not provided a clear statement confirming how the new
development will provide a significant improvement in the quality of the existing
stock for the current residents.

Warborough and Shillingford Neighbourhood Plan Steering Committee –
Recommend that the application is refused based on the following objections:
-

The reduction in affordable units, that the facility would fail to meet current housing
need and there is no confirmation that the units will be rented.
The proposal fails to preserve or enhance local character and the removal of the
hedge would erode the rural character of the community.
The bin and cycle storage would be unacceptable.
The development would not incorporate enough parking spaces.

Also commented that:
-

An independent assessment of the environmental damage vs the benefits would
have been useful.
The plan does not clearly show how each property has access to external areas.
Holistic approaches have not been considered, such as co-ordination with other
development sites in the village.
Reasonable plans for remaining residents to remain locally should be made.

3.3

Oxfordshire County Council Highways – No objection subject to conditions

3.4

Housing Development – Support the application in full

3.5

Conservation Officer - No objection as the application is in line with local and national
policy for development in the setting of the conservation area.

3.6

Forestry Officer – No objection

3.7

Countryside Officer – No objection

3.8

Waste Management Officer - Provided general information on bin requirements

3.9

Neighbour Representations – Four received in total
Two received from residents of St Lawrence House. One commented that “this is a
fantastic plan” and one raises objections to the development as “the flat is in excellent
condition” and “this is a completely needless application to demolish a perfectly good
building.”

Page 76

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

Two received from residents of surrounding properties. One questions whether the
development would result in any changes to neighbouring gardens and asks what the
boundary will be. The other raises concerns about the impact of moving on an existing
resident of St Lawrence House and comments that “the flats are quite adequate” and
that it would be “a total waste of money to demolish them.”
4.0
4.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
None

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Updated in July 2018 and the associated NPPF Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

5.2

Adopted South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1 - The Overall Strategy
CSR1 - Housing in villages
CSH2 - Housing density
CSH3 - Affordable housing
CSH4 - Meeting housing needs
CSI1 - Infrastructure provision
CSM2 - Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
CSQ3 - Design
CSEN2 - Green Belt
CSEN3 - Historic environment
CSB1 - Conservation and improvement of biodiversity

5.3

Adopted South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
C6 - Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8 - Adverse affect on protected species
C9 - Loss of landscape features
CON5 - Setting of listed building
CON7 - Proposals in a conservation area
D1 - Principles of good design
D2 - Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3 - Outdoor amenity area
D4 - Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D6 - Community safety
D10 - Waste Management
EP1 - Adverse affect on people and environment
EP2 - Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP4 - Impact on water resources
EP6 - Sustainable drainage
EP8 - Contaminated land
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
G5 - Best use of land/buildings in built up areas
GB4 - Visual amenity of the Green Belt
H4 - Housing sites in towns and villages
T1 - Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 - Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4

Warborough and Shillingford Neighbourhood Plan (W&SNP)
The W&SNP was formally made part of the council’s development plan on 11 October
2018. This follows the positive outcome of the referendum, where 90.4% of those who

Page 77

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

voted were in favour of the Plan. The key policies in the W&SNP that relate to this
development are:
VC1 – Development principles and the character of the villages
H1 – Housing mix
H3 – Infill development
H5 – Parking provision
H6 – Safeguarding Affordable housing
5.5

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2032
The Council is preparing a new Local Plan, which will set out how development will be
planned and delivered across South Oxfordshire to 2033. Due to the stage of
preparation, the Emerging Plan can only be given limited weight.

5.6

South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) 2016
This guide sets out the standard that we expect developments to meet through a series
of checklists that relate to key design principles.

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The relevant planning considerations in the determination of this application are:


The principle of the development, including:
- whether the proposal is appropriate development within the Green Belt,
- impact on the openness of the Green Belt.



Matters of detail / technical issues:
- the reduction in the number of affordable units,
- impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area,
- neighbour amenity,
- traffic impact and highway safety,
- trees and ecology,



Other matters

The principle of the development
6.2

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

6.3

In the case of South Oxfordshire, the Development Plan consists of the South
Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) which was adopted in December 2012, and the
saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011.

6.4

The Warborough and Shillingford Neighbourhood Plan (W&SNP) also forms part of the
Development Plan and was formally “made” in October 2018. Development which is
not in accordance with an up-to-date Development Plan should be refused unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.5

In terms of the overall principle of the development, the site is within the built-up limits
of Warborough. Policy VC1 of the W&SNP supports the principle of new residential
development within the built -up areas of the village subject to a number of amenity and
environmental considerations.

6.6

Warborough is classified as a ‘smaller village’ in the SOCS. Policy CSR1 of the SOCS
states that redevelopment proposals in all categories of settlement may be acceptable
Page 78

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

but will be considered on a case by case basis through the development management
process in line with other policies in the Development Plan. As the site is within the
Green Belt, the compliance with Green Belt Policy is key to these considerations.
Whether the proposal is appropriate development within the Green Belt
6.7

Policy CSEN2 of the SOCS sets out how the special character and landscape setting of
Oxford will be protected by the Oxford Green Belt. In relation to housing in Green Belt
villages, this policy adds that Policy CSR1 allows for limited amounts of new housing
through infilling in some Green Belt villages however planning permission will not be
granted for development within the Oxford Green Belt that is contrary to national policy
guidance in the NPPF and the purposes of including land within the Green Belt.

6.8

Para.133 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) explains that the
fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land
permanently open; the essential characteristics of the Green Belt are their openness
and their permanence.

6.9

The NPPF goes on to explain that the Green Belt serves the following five purposes:
a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and
other urban land.

6.10 At para.145, the NPPF stipulates that a local planning authority should regard the
construction of new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt unless the
development falls within a list of exceptions to this. Included in this list is:
limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed
land, whether redundant or in continuing use, which would:
-

not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the
existing development; or

-

not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to
meeting an identified affordable housing need within the area of the local
planning authority.

6.11 This proposal would involve the demolition of an existing building and its replacement
with a new building and is clearly falls within the category of ‘redevelopment’. The
proposal is therefore an appropriate development within the Green Belt, and in my
opinion would not conflict with any of the five purposes of including land within the
Green Belt. Subject to the impact of the development on the openness of the Green
Belt, the principle of the development is acceptable.

Page 79

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

Impact on the openness of the Green Belt
6.12 If there was no building on the site, the site would be appropriate for infill development.
Therefore, whilst the NPPF allows for the replacement of existing buildings providing
that they are not materially larger than the one that is being replaced, this is also an
infill site, for which there is no prescribed limit on the size or volume of buildings.
6.13 The proposed building would have a similar footprint to the existing and would be 1.5m
higher. The development would include the demolition of the garages and the land
where these are positioned would be used for parking and would remain open. Overall,
I am satisfied that the proposal would not have a greater impact on the openness of the
Green Belt than the existing development.
6.14 In my opinion the development would not cause substantial harm to the openness of
the Green Belt and complies with the relevant development plan policies and NPPF
guidance in relation to development in the Green Belt. The principle of the
development is therefore acceptable.
Matters of detail / technical issues
The reduction in the number of affordable units
6.15 Policy H6 of the W&SNP seeks to safeguard affordable housing. This policy states:
Proposals that would result in the loss of existing affordable housing through either
redevelopment or change of use will not be supported unless:
A. They would result in an increase in the number of affordable houses or a
significant improvement in the quality of the existing stock of affordable housing
on the site; or
B. the affordable houses to be lost are replaced elsewhere in the neighbourhood
area; or
C. it can be demonstrated that the affordable houses concerned are no longer
needed in the neighbourhood area
6.16 The site is operated by Soha Housing Ltd, who are a registered housing association.
The documents submitted with the application state that Soha Housing Ltd will continue
to retain the site as part of their affordable housing stock.
6.17 There is a restrictive covenant on the site which requires the written consent of the
council if the site is redeveloped for private housing. As such, the council has control
over the future occupancy of the proposed flats and Soha Housing Ltd could not use
the site for private units without the prior consent of the council.
6.18 The Nationally Described Space Standards for one bed flats is 50 sq.m. The existing
bedsits are significantly below this standard, at 31 sq.m. The development would
therefore provide future occupiers with places to live that are more apprioriate for
modern day standards, with separate spaces for living and sleeping.

Page 80

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

6.19 The documents accompanying the application explain that the accommodation was
originally designed and built in the early 1970s, and the methods of construction,
thermal performance and insulation, heating systems, internal layouts and facilities are
now outdated and incapable of economically viable refurbishments to current
standards.
6.20 I am satisfied that the proposal would bring these affordable units up to modern
standards and provide future residents with an improved living environment. Although
the development would reduce the number of affordable units, in my opinion the
development would result in a significant improvement in the quality of the housing
stock and this would benefit those in housing need.
Impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area
6.21 Policy VC1 of the W&SNP provides several criteria in relation to character and
appearance. This policy specifically references the importance of preserving or
enhancing Warborough Conservation Area for its important contribution to local
distinctiveness, character and sense of place. The requirements of policies CSEN3 of
the SOCS and CON7 of the SOLP have similar requirements.
6.22 Although not within Warborough Conservation Area the site does boarder this
designated area and so the development of the site would have some impact on the
setting of the conservation area. The existing building is not of architectural or historic
merit and so I have no objection to its demolition.
6.23 The proposed replacement building has a higher ridge height than the existing building,
of roughly around 1.5m. The roof of the existing block can be glimpsed from Thame
Road (which is part of the conservation area) between trees and existing buildings.
The proposed development would retain this character, with glimpses of the new roof
possible. There are no historic designated views that the slightly increased roofline
would impact and as such, I have no objection to the proposed replacement building
with regard to the impact on the setting of the conservation area.
6.24 The council’s conservation officer has raised no objection to the development and is
satisfied that the application is in line with local and national policy for development in
the setting of a conservation area. Materials appropriate to local character can be
secured by condition.
6.25 The overall form and layout of the proposed building would not be dissimilar to the
existing. The design proposed would incorporate some additional gable features,
which would create some visual interest and break up the building. The scale of the
building would be appropriate to the scale of the plot and I am satisfied that the
proposals would not detract from the character and appearance of the site or
surrounding area, in accordance with relevant design policies.
Neighbour amenity
6.26 A number of Development Plan policies seek to protect the amenity of neighbouring
occupiers. This includes policy H3 of the W&SNP, which requires development within
the built-up form of the village to not cause an unacceptable impact on the amenities of
adjacent residential properties.
6.27 Given the similarities between the existing building on the site and the proposed
development, I do not consider that the proposal would have a materially greater impact
on the amenities of surrounding residential properties. The existing building has a
Page 81

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

gable end close to the nearest neighbour at No.16 St. Lawrence Close and a positive
aspect of the development is that the roof line of the proposed building would be hipped
away from this neighbour.
6.28 The application plans show half height obscured glazing on the northern elevation of
the proposed building and this would improve the relationship between the application
site and the properties to the north. A condition would ensure that the obscure glazing
is retained. Subject to this condition I am satisfied that the development would have
an acceptable impact on neighbouring properties in terms of light, outlook and privacy.
Traffic impact and highway safety
6.29 The proposed development would reduce the number of units on site and as such,
would be likely to result in a lower level of traffic generation. The proposal would make
use of the existing access and the level of parking spaces would increase as a result of
the development.
6.30 As such, I consider that the proposal would accord with policy H3 of the W&SNP in that
it would provide safe and secure access, parking and turning arrangements, and would
not severely impact on highway safety. The County Council highways officer has no
objection in relation to the level of parking provided. As such, I am also satisfied that
the development would accord with policy H5 of the W&SNP, which requires an
adequate level of off-street parking provision to meet the future needs a development.
6.31 The County Council highways officer raised concerns in relation to the original
submission as the application site boundary included highways land and this caused
concern in relation to the position of the development up to the highway boundary. The
amended plans corrected the application site boundary and no longer includes highway
land within it.
6.32 The highway officer expressed a preference for the bin and cycle store to be moved
back from the highway boundary. Although this amendment has not been forthcoming,
the highways team accept the proposed layout and I recommend that an informative is
added to any planning permission stating that no part of the development shall
overhang or obstruct the highway.
6.33 The County highways officer is satisfied that 12 cycle spaces would be appropriate for
this development and details of the cycle storage can be agreed by a condition. Other
conditions are also recommended by the highways officer to ensure that the access is
constructed to specification, that car parking is laid out and retained, and that
appropriate drainage details are secured.
6.34 Other recommended conditions include the agreement of a Construction Method
Statement, to help reduce the disturbance caused by construction activities. A
condition to secure a Travel Information Pack will help promote the use of non-car
modes of transport. Subject to these conditions, I am satisfied that the development
would be acceptable in terms of its highways impacts, in accordance with the relevant
sections of policy H3 of the W&SNP, and the other Development Plan policies relevant
to highways matters.
Trees and ecology
6.35 The council’s specialist officers for trees and ecology have raised no concerns in
relation to the development. A tree protection condition has been recommended by the

Page 82

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

forestry officer and subject to the protection of existing landscape features, I consider
the development to be acceptable in this respect.
Other material considerations
6.36 The application proposes a combined bin and cycle store and the layout / function of
this could be improved. However, this would not be a matter which would warrant
refusal of the application.
6.37 Details of hard and soft landscaping could be secured through a condition. Boundary
details could also be secured to ensure that an appropriate boundary is provided
between the proposed parking area and neighbouring properties.
7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
The application site is in a village setting and the proposal would replace an existing
building. The proposed development is acceptable with regards to housing and Green
Belt policies. Although reducing the number of affordable units on the site, the
development would provide larger units, that are modern in terms of construction. This
would provide an improved quality of living for occupiers.

7.2

The proposed development would preserve the setting of the adjacent conservation
area and would not have a materially greater impact on neighbouring properties than
the current building. The County Council highways officer has raised no objection in
relation to parking provision and the development would be acceptable in terms of trees
and ecology.

7.3

When considered against the development plan as a whole, the proposal would
represent a sustainable form of development, and as such, is recommended for
approval.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION:
To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.

Planning permission – three years to implement.
Development in accordance with approved plans.
Materials schedule.
Obscure glazing.
Cycle parking facilities.
Existing vehicular access.
Car parking provision.
Construction method statement.
Drainage.
Travel information pack.
Tree protection.
Hard and soft landscaping.
Details of boundary treatments.

Informative – No development to overhang or obstruct highway

Author:
Emma Bowerman
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:
planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10

Appendix A - OS Plan

Page 85

Appendix B - Application Plans
N
U
D

W
E
I
V

O
N

169

SI

159

1

7

ST

G5*

A

LA
W

RE

NC
E

9

CL
O

T10*

SE

bin & cycles

H3

T4*

H1
H5
H1

T5

21

H1
T1
G2

H4

Dead

T2

T6

G1
H4

H4

T3

H1

H2

T7

16

Laurel

Birch <75mm

G3

A

T9
T8

Accommodation Schedule
House Type

GIA
45.30 m

1 Bed Flat

2 Bed W/C accessible 56.99 m
2 Bed W/C user

66.51 m
65.34 m

1 Bed FOG

Total Number of Units

Plot No.
1, 5, 7, 8,
12

No.
Units

G4

5

2, 9
2
3, 4 (10, 11)
4
6
1
12
0.19ha

Site Area
Total Parking Spaces

16

11

The survey information shown on this drawing is based on
a survey prepared by a third party and TSH Architects
accept no responsibility for the accuracy or
completeness of the survey

N

These drawings have been amended to attain Record
drawing status based on information received from the
Main Contractor.

Do not scale dimensions from this drawing
0

2

4

6

8

10

20m

Note: Detailed design information for Various
components / constructions are indicated on separate
specialist sub-contractor drawings, & may supersede the
information shown on this drawing.

architects
Tel: 01865 861281
tsharchitects.co.uk

F

29/11/2018

Red line amended to remove highway

E

03/08/2017

Flat 6 & Communal lounge amendments

D

30/07/2017

Communal lounge/bin and bike store added

C

16/07/2017

FFL increase, ramped access shown

B

04/06/2017

Updated to planning consultant comments

A
Rev

04/04/2018
Date

Updated to client comments
Description

St Lawrence House

Date:

July 2018

Warborough

Scale:

1:200@A1

Status:

Planning

Proposed Site Layout

Drawn:

2017038

Revision:

A

02 002

kem

F
Page 86

Page 87

Page 88

Page 89

KITCHEN
LIVING ROOM

BATHROOM

UP

BEDROOM

BEDROOM

BATHROOM

LIVING ROOM
KITCHEN

BATHROOM

BED-SITTING ROOM

KITCHEN

UP
VOID

VOID
BED-SITTING ROOM
LIVING ROOM

BEDROOM

BED-SITTING ROOM

LIVING ROOM

BOILER ROOM

BEDROOM

COMMUNAL ROOM
UP

UP

LOCATION PLAN

GUEST ROOM
KITCHEN

KITCHEN
BATHROOM

Page 90

St Lawrence House
St Lawrence Close
Warborough
OX10 7EY

KITCHEN

LAUNDRY
BATHROOM

BATHROOM

KITCHEN

WC

BATHROOM

Ground Floor Fire Drawing

Scale: 1:150 (A3)
Date Drawn: 24/08/11
Drawn By: NPF

Soha Housing Limited
Royal Scot House
99 Station Road
Didcot
OX11 7NN

KITCHEN
LIVING ROOM

BATHROOM

BEDROOM

BATHROOM

DOWN

BEDROOM

LIVING ROOM
KITCHEN

BATHROOM

BED-SITTING ROOM

DOWN

KITCHEN

VOID

DOWN

BATHROOM
KITCHEN

BED-SITTING ROOM
LIVING ROOM

BEDROOM

BED-SITTING ROOM

LIVING ROOM

BEDROOM 2

BEDROOM

LOCATION PLAN

LIVING ROOM
KITCHEN

BEDROOM 3

KITCHEN
BATHROOM

Page 91

St Lawrence House
St Lawrence Close
Warborough
OX10 7EY

VOID

DOWN

KITCHEN

BATHROOM
BATHROOM

KITCHEN

BATHROOM

First Floor Fire Drawing

Scale: 1:150 (A3)
Date Drawn: 24/08/11
Drawn By: NPF

Soha Housing Limited
Royal Scot House
99 Station Road
Didcot
OX11 7NN

Do not scale dimensions from this drawing

The survey information shown on this drawing is based on
a survey prepared by a third party and TSH Architects
accept no responsibility for the accuracy or
completeness of the survey
These drawings have been amended to attain Record
drawing status based on information received from the
Main Contractor.

DW

HW
LF

TU

Note: Detailed design information for Various
components / constructions are indicated on separate
specialist sub-contractor drawings, & may supersede the
information shown on this drawing.

bed 1
bath

bath

bath
bath

bath
bed 1

bed 1

bed 1
bed 2

bed 1

bath

bed 2

bed 1

bed 1

bed 1

Ground Floor Plan

First Floor Plan
bed 2

bed 2

bath

bath

bed 2

bed 1

Flat 5
bed 1
bath

bed 1
bath

N

Page 92

0

1

2

3

4

5

10m

architects
Tel: 01865 861281
tsharchitects.co.uk

D

03/08/18

C

30/07/18

B

18/07/18

Amendments to flat 6 and
communal lounge
Communal lounge, bin and scooter
store added
Updated to show ramped access

A
Rev

04/04/18
Date

Updated to client comments
Description

St Lawrence House

Date:

20 DEC 2017

Warborough

Scale:

1:100@A1

Status:

Preliminary

Proposed Floor Plans

Drawn:

2017038

Revision:

A -

02 101

kem

D

Agenda Item 11
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

OFFICER

P18/S3705/FUL
FULL APPLICATION
15.11.2018
BECKLEY
John Walsh
Care of The Beckley Court Residents
Land North of Beckley Court Beckley Oxfordshire
Proposed new 3 bed dwelling. As amended by
drawing no 201A accompanying Agent's email dated
4 and drawing numbers 1805-MEB-XX-00-DR-A-3103 Rev B and 1805-MEB-XX-00-DR-A-3-103-1
received 31 January 2019 addressing highway
concerns).
Sharon Crawford

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application has been referred to the Planning Committee because the
recommendation conflicts with the views of the Beckley Parish Council who object to
the application.

1.2

The site sits opposite the village hall to the southern side of Woodperry Road within
the Oxford Green Belt and comprises an area of 0.3 ha. A sewage treatment plant
formerly occupied the site, but this has been decommissioned. The site is now cleared
and open. Ground levels are in line with the level Woodperry Road but land levels
drop significantly to the south where the Beckley Court properties were constructed
within a hollow created by a quarry. The character of Woodperry Road is varied.

1.3

The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached at Appendix 1.

2.0
2.1

PROPOSAL
The application seeks full planning permission for a three-bedroom, flat roofed, two
storey, detached dwelling. The materials proposed are brick finish on the ground floor
and timber cladding to the upper floor with a green, flat roof. The existing access would
be closed, and a new access point provided to the eastern edge of the site. Parking
and manoeuvring space for two cars would be provided. Sections across the site have
been submitted to show the relationship with existing houses in Beckley Court.

2.2

Amended plans have been submitted to address the concerns of the OCC Highway
officer.

2.3

Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website

3.1

Beckley Parish
Council

Objection;
 Overlooking to no 3 Beckley Court
 Design – flat roof – against the policies of the
Neighbourhood Plan

Page 93

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019





Overdevelopment of the site
Not in keeping with the surroundings and the street scene
A chalet bungalow would fit in with other properties on the
Woodperry Road.

OCC (Highways)

Holding objection subject to revisions to vision splay and
clarification on parking required.
Comments on amended plans to be reported verbally at committee.

Contaminated
Land Officer

No objection. Based on the information provided in the Site
Investigation Report there does not appear to be any potential for
land contamination to impact the development.

Neighbours
object (2)

The site is within an open gap of some 100m on Woodperry Road,
a new dwelling on this site will diminish this gap. The site is in the
Green Belt and only limited infilling should be allowed. This is not a
small gap in a built-up frontage and the site is not closely
surrounded by buildings so the principle of development is not
acceptable. A new dwelling will impact on openness.
The surrounding sites are large and spacious – the proposed site is
smaller and will be incongruous and out of character.
There will be unacceptable overlooking to 3 Beckley Court
particularly to the garden which is set at a considerably lower level.
The impact will not be mitigated by a fence.
There is a risk of contamination due to the previous use.
Unacceptable overlooking from east and south windows to the north
west bedroom window at 2 Beckley Court.
Additional traffic at this narrow point in the road where there is
limited visibility will cause a danger to other vehicles and
pedestrians.
The plot is too small and would not provide sufficient garden area –
this would be out of keeping with the character of the surrounding
large plots.

4.0
4.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P18/S2457/PEM – Pre-application response (04/09/2018)
Proposed new dwelling.
P87/N0326 - Approved (01/07/1987)
Sewage disposal scheme.

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies
CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN2 - Green Belt protection
CSH1 - Amount and distribution of housing
CSI1 - Infrastructure provision
CSQ3 - Design
CSR1 - Housing in villages
Page 94

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

CSS1 - The Overall Strategy
5.2

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
C4 - Landscape setting of settlements
D1 - Principles of good design
D10 - Waste Management
D2 - Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3 - Outdoor amenity area
D4 - Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D7 - Access for all
EP1 - Adverse affect on people and environment
EP6 - Sustainable drainage
EP7 - Impact on ground water resources
EP8 - Contaminated land
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
GB4 - Openness of Green Belt maintained
T1 - Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 - Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3

Neighbourhood Plan policies;
Neighbourhood Plan policies –Beckley Neighbourhood Development Plan (BNP)
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.
The Beckley Neighbourhood Plan area was designated in June 2016 and the statutory
pre-submission consultation exercise concluded on 24 February 2018. The qualifying
body is reviewing the comments received. Once the qualifying body is satisfied that
they have addressed the issues raised during the consultation they may conduct
another round of consultation or they may formally submit the plan to district council.
The plan has not yet reached a sufficiently advanced stage where it can be given
significant weight.

5.4

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2032. Policy H16 and Appendix 7
The Local Plan and supporting documents is being prepared for submission to the
Secretary of State after which, a Planning Inspector will then be appointed to carry out
an Independent Examination of the Local Plan. The Local Plan does not allocate sites
for development in villages and instead devolves delivery of new houses in these
locations to the Neighbourhood Plan process. In the emerging Local Plan, Beckley
continues to be a smaller village; in the absence of a made Neighbourhood Plan a 5 10% increase in dwelling numbers will be achieved through suitable development sites
and infill development. The emerging Local Plan has limited weight at this stage.

5.5

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.6

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Paragraph 11
Section 4
Paragraphs 54 - 57

Presumption
in
favour
development
Decision making
Planning conditions

of

sustainable

Page 95

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

Section 5 Paragraphs 59 to 66
Section 11
Section 12
Section 13 paragraph

Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Making efficient use of land
Achieving well designed places
Protecting Green Belt Land

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main issues to consider in this case are;







6.2

The principle of the development.
o Greenbelt
o Housing in villages
H4 criteria.
Provision of gardens.
Contamination
Pre-commencement conditions
Community Infrastructure Levy.

Principle of development. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004 requires applications for planning permission be determined in accordance
with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.
Development which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should
be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.3

Green Belt issues. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) attaches great
importance to Green Belts. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent
urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open – the most important attribute of Green
Belts is their openness and their permanence.
The Green Belt serves five purposes:
a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and
other urban land.
It is important to note that whilst the Green Belt contains areas of attractive landscape,
the quality of the landscape is not relevant to the inclusion of land in the Green Belt or
its continued protection. It is the openness of land that is important.

6.4

To protect openness there is a general presumption against inappropriate
development. Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and
should not be approved except in very special circumstances.
New buildings in the Green Belt are inappropriate unless for the following purposes (my
highlighting of relevant section):

Page 96

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

a) buildings for agriculture and forestry;
b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land
or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial
grounds and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the
Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it;
c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;
d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and
not materially larger than the one it replaces;
e) limited infilling in villages;
f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in
the development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and
g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed
land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings),
which would:
‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the
existing development; or
‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to
meeting an identified affordable housing need within the area of the local
planning authority.
Limited infilling within villages is not inappropriate development in the Green Belt and
the proposal would constitute limited infilling in my view.
6.5

Housing in villages. Policy CSR1 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS)
allows for the provision of housing in the smaller and other villages in the district.
Beckley is identified as an “smaller” village where infill development on sites of up to 0.2
hectares may be allowed subject to the criteria of policy H4 of SOLP. Infill development
is defined as being the filling in of a small gap in an otherwise built up frontage or on
other sites within settlements where the site is closely surrounded by buildings. CSR1
also allows for redevelopment proposals in all categories of settlement but these will be
considered on a case by case basis through the development management process in
line with other policies in the Development Plan. CSR1 and CSEN2 (SOCS) also make
reference to respecting Green Belt designations.
The NPPF says that where villages are included within the Green Belt, it has to be
because they too contribute to the openness (para 140). A reasonable interpretation is
that there are features in the character of the village (open spaces) that make that
contribution in particular.
CSR1 considers that if a site is an infill site (or redevelopment site), then it will be part
of a built-up area/ frontage and there would be some harm to the openness but it would
be limited; unless it was an important open space within the village, then that is serious
harm and will not be allowed. These are the balanced judgements CSEN2 is seeking.
Summary of principle
Neighbours have questioned whether the site is an infill site. It is my view the site is
within the built-up limits of Beckley. Whilst the Beckley Court properties back onto
Waterperry Road and do not provide a “frontage” as such, this site is a small gap in a
continuous line of houses and is closely surrounded by The Elms and 2 and 3 Beckley
Court. In addition, the emerging Neighbourhood Plan seeks to define a settlement
boundary, where any sites within the boundary have development potential. This site
falls well within the settlement boundary defined in the BNP. It is also worth noting that
the site is previously developed as a sewage treatment works although most of the

Page 97

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

development is below ground. Two of the aims of the emerging Neighbourhood Plan
are to – 1. Encouraging development of brown field land, and
2. Encouraging infilling within the ‘Defined Village’
This site achieves both of those aims. In the circumstances, I believe that the principle
of development is acceptable.
6.6

H4 criteria. Having established that the principle of residential development is
acceptable on the site, policy H4 of the SOLP requires development within built-up
areas to integrate well and be responsive to the character of the area. The proposal
must also meet the following criteria to demonstrate that the proposal will not result in a
harmful impact on the surrounding residential area:

6.7

i) an important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is not
lost, nor an important public view spoilt;
The site is currently open because any remaining infrastructure associated with the
sewage treatment plant is below ground. However, the site has no special designation
(other than Green Belt) and I do not consider the site to be an important open space of
public or environmental or ecological value.

6.8

ii) the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in
keeping with the surroundings;
There is a considerable range of design and style of dwellings along Woodperry Road
both contemporary and traditional, detached, semi-detached and bungalows, chalet
bungalows and two storey buildings. The application proposes a contemporary, two
storey flat roofed structure. The ground level of the dwelling would be lowered by 1m in
order to maintain an acceptable height in relation to neighbouring properties.

In terms of design the proposal adds to the existing variety. In terms of scale the
proposed building is not significantly larger than other buildings on Woodperry Road.
The materials are contemporary, but this is not at odds with other new development
along Woodperry Road. Given the existing variety I do not believe that the proposed
dwelling would be harmful to the character of the area.
6.9

iii) the character of the area is not adversely affected;
See above.

6.10 iv) there are no overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections;
Highways. Access and parking. With respect to highway safety matters the advice
from Central Government set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is
as follows:
Para 109. Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe.

Page 98

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely to
result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact.
Neighbours have expressed some concern about increased traffic at this narrow point
on Woodperry Road. However, the highway engineer has no objection to the increase
in traffic at this point. Although the highway officer has submitted a holding objection, I
believe that his concerns can be overcome and a further amended plan has been
submitted to address the concerns in relation to the vision splay and the parking
spaces. The highway officer’s comments will be reported verbally at the committee.
6.11 Neighbour impact
Policy D4 of SOCS seeks to ensure that all new dwellings should be designed and laid
out so as to secure a reasonable degree of privacy for occupiers and to ensure that the
amenities of the occupants of neighbouring properties is not harmed.
There are three neighbouring properties that have the potential be affected by this
proposal The Elms, Woodperry Road and 2 and 3 Beckley Court. The Elms appears
to be on a similar ground level as the existing site but the properties in Beckley Court
are built within an old quarry and are set at a lower level.
6.12 Impact on The Elms. The Elms and the proposed new dwelling would have a standard
side to side relationship with a distance of some 9m between the side wall of the new
dwelling and the existing garage of The Elms. It is noted that in trying to remove any
overlooking potential to 3 Beckley Court, at the rear, that a first floor bedroom window is
included in the side elevation that look directly towards The Elms. The bedroom window
has the potential to overlook depending on the outlook. In this case, I do not consider
the bedroom window to be unneighbourly as it looks onto an evergreen hedge and the
garage.
In terms of scale and massing, I believe that the impact on the Elms will be acceptable
and will be a normal side to side relationship
Elevation to the Elms

Floor plan

Extract from first floor plan

6.13 Impact on 3 Beckley Court.
The proposed dwelling is to the north west of number 3 and will not have any impact on
sunlight. However, due to land levels and the relationship with the garden to number 3
the new dwelling has the potential to be oppressive and to overlook.
6.14

Page 99

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

The new dwelling would maintain a distance of some 22 metres from no 3 and the
buildings are at an oblique angle to each other so that there is no direct line of
overlooking between buildings. Given the distance and orientation involved, I do not
believe that the new building would have an oppressive impact.

6.15

6.16

The BRE trust “Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight” (2011) is a guide to
good practice and gives advice on site layout planning to achieve good sunlighting and
daylighting both within buildings, in the open spaces between them and within existing
buildings nearby.
To assess impact on daylight on any existing window the BRE document establishes a
test. A measurement is taken of the angle to the horizontal subtended by the new
development at the centre of the lowest window. If the angle is less than 25 degrees
then it is unlikely to have a substantial effect on the diffuse skylight enjoyed by the
existing building. The sections below illustrate that the angle from the midpoint of the
lowest window is less than 25 degrees and as such this impact is likely to be
acceptable in terms of impact on daylight for all windows.

Page 100

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

6.17
Elevation to 3 Beckley Court

6.18 Potential to overlook. Potential overlooking to no 3 has been designed out. The
ground floor is sunk into the ground and any overlooking will be screened by the
enclosure on the boundary. At first floor there are two windows that serve an ensuite
and family bathroom; both would be obscure glazed. A condition has been
recommended to ensure that the windows are retained as obscure glazed and only top
opening fanlights are allowed. In addition, a condition is recommended to remove
permitted development rights to add additional windows. With these conditions the
neighbour impact on no 3 Beckley Court is acceptable in my view.
6.19 Impact on 2 Beckley Court. The distance between the proposed new dwelling and 2
Beckley Court is some 35m. Neighbours have objected to potential overlooking
between the bedroom window in the first floor master bedroom window in the east
elevation and a bedroom window in the western elevation of 2. Given the distance and
the change of level involved the overlooking is within acceptable levels in my view.
The proposed dwelling would be visible from the garden of no 2, across the garden of
no 3, but I do not believe that the impact would be unduly oppressive or overbearing.
6.20 Distance to 2 Beckley Court

Elevation to 2 Beckley Court

Page 101

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

6.21 v) if the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not create
problems of privacy and access and would not extend the built limits of the
settlement.
This not applicable as the site has a frontage to a road.
6.22 Provision of gardens. Minimum standards for new residential development are
recommended in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and in saved Policy D3 of the Local
Plan. In this case 100 square metres of garden area would be required for this three
bedroom dwelling. The rear garden for the property is slightly below this standard at 90
sq metres. However, the site is immediately opposite the village hall and the recreation
ground and this slight under provision is not sufficient to warrant a refusal of planning
permission. It should be noted that two recent appeal decisions have been allowed where
the under provision of gardens has not been supported by inspectors.
6.23 Contamination and previous use of the site. The contaminated land officer has no
objection to the proposed dwelling. From the information submitted there does not appear
to be any potential for land contamination to impact the development.
6.24 Pre-commencement conditions. The applicant has agreed to all the precommencement conditions requested as required by under The Town and Country
Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018, Section 100ZA (6) of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990(a).
6.25 Community Infrastructure Levy. The CIL charge applied to new build residential
development and is liable for the proposed development.
7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
It is my view that the proposed development is acceptable because the site lies within
the built up limits of the village and is not inappropriate development within the Oxford
Green Belt. The site is not an important open space and the impact on openness will be
generally limited.
The proposed dwelling would continue linear development on Woodperry Road which
is in keeping with the prevailing character of the area. The site is large enough to
accommodate one detached house and the associated parking and garden areas.
Whilst the design and materials are contemporary, this is does not detract from the
wider character of the area, which is very varied. The site affords for sufficient amenity
space and parking and does not result in a materially harmful unneighbourly impact to
adjacent properties. Conditions are proposed relating to highway matters, materials and
permitted development rights.
The proposal is therefore in accordance with the relevant Development Plan policies
and national planning policy and planning permission should be granted subject to the
following conditions.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION:
To grant planning permission subject to the attached conditions
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Commencement three years- full planning permission.
Approved plans.
Schedule of materials required (all).
Landscaping (incl hardsurfacing and boundary treatment).
Hours of operation - construction/demolition sites.
Drainage works (details required).

Page 102

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 20 February 2019

7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.

Construction method statement.
Parking and manoeuvring areas retained.
Vision splay protection.
No surface water drainage to highway.
Obscure glaze first floor windows in southern elevation.
Remove permitted development rights to extend or alter.

Author:
Sharon Crawford
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:
planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 103

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1

Agenda Item 11

The site

Page 105

This drawing and design is for use solely in connection with the
project described below. The drawing and design is the copyright of
MEB Design and must not be reissued, loaned or copied without
written consent.
All dimensions and setting out to be checked on site before
construction. Do not scale from the drawing.

North

The drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other information
relevant to the project. Any apparent discrepancy is to be brought
to the attention of MEB Design.
If drawings are extracts from a co-ordianted Building Information
Model (Autodesk Revit or similar) then for full details, layouts, keys
and any items outside the Architectural Package please refer to the
separate Structural and Services Packages. If in any doubt ask.
Linked and imported elements and files produced by other parties
remain the copyright and responsibility of those parties and not of
MEB Design Ltd

Village Hall

Wo
o

3D and rendered images are intended for information and
illustrative purposes only. 3D and rendered drawings should not be
relied upon and do not form part of any contractual arrangements.
© MEB Design Ltd

dp
err

Garage

yR

oa

43
m

e

Garage of
Upper Park
House

d

V is

New smaller gate
for wheeling bins to
road
ibi

GENERAL NOTES

REV

DATE

A

04/12/18

B

31/01/19

DESCRIPTION

Parking spaces shown and dimensions added.
43m vision splay shown. Falls note added.
Hedges modified.
Sight Lines Updated

Low growing
shrubs/hedgegrow (match
existing species) max 1m high

lit
yL
in e

Existing lamp post

50
00

Fa
ll

Ne
w

ps
do
wn

1:
12

New timber fence and
hedge reduces to 1m
near the highway

43

m

Ra

m

SUDS
Compliant
Driveway
85m2

Tarmac cross over

24
00

61
20

en
tra
nc
e

V is

ibi

lity

Lin
e

CLIENT

BCRA

22200

PROJECT TITLE

Land at Beckley Court

DRAWING TITLE

Proposed Site Plan

297m3 site area

= 33.67 dwellings per hectare
SCALE

DRAWN/CHKD

1 : 200@A3

= 7 habitable rooms

MS PC

DATE

Oct 2018

MEB

= 236 habitable rooms per hectare

MEB Design Ltd

Page 106

Chartered Architects

No. 3

0m

4m

8m

12m

16m

20m

Oxford Office

Unit 2, Florence House, 29 Grove Street, Oxford,
OX2 7JT.
T: 01865 316 944

Also at

VISUAL SCALE 1:200 @ A3

oxford@mebdesign.co.uk
London and Kent

www.mebdesign.co.uk

DRAWING No.

Rev.

1805-MEB-XX-00-DR-A-3-103

B

Appendix 2

This drawing and design is for use solely in connection with the
project described below. The drawing and design is the copyright of
MEB Design and must not be reissued, loaned or copied without
written consent.
All dimensions and setting out to be checked on site before
construction. Do not scale from the drawing.
The drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other information
relevant to the project. Any apparent discrepancy is to be brought
to the attention of MEB Design.

No. 3 Beckley Court

Proposed new dwelling

The Elms House

If drawings are extracts from a co-ordianted Building Information
Model (Autodesk Revit or similar) then for full details, layouts, keys
and any items outside the Architectural Package please refer to the
separate Structural and Services Packages. If in any doubt ask.

The Retreat

Linked and imported elements and files produced by other parties
remain the copyright and responsibility of those parties and not of
MEB Design Ltd

Timber clad walls to top floor

Light grey brick
walls to ground
floor

3D and rendered images are intended for information and
illustrative purposes only. 3D and rendered drawings should not be
relied upon and do not form part of any contractual arrangements.
© MEB Design Ltd

GENERAL NOTES

REV

DATE

DESCRIPTION

Proposed North Elevation
1 : 200

Proposed new dwelling

No. 3 Beckley Court

Level 2m
1.8 m high hedge

Level 0

Proposed East Elevation
1 : 200
The Retreat

The Elm House

Solid timber canopy for
shading and vegetation

Proposed new dwelling

Garage

Timber clad walls to top floor

Obscure glazing
Flue 6.6m high

Light grey brick
walls to ground
floor

Cill height of side first
floor window

CLIENT

BCRA

PROJECT TITLE

Land at Beckley Court

Proposed South Elevation
1 : 200
Garage

Proposed new dwelling

No.3 Beckley Court

No.4 Beckley Court

No.4 Beckley Court
DRAWING TITLE

Proposed Elevations

Flue 6.6m high

25.00
°

SCALE

MS PC

DATE

Oct 2018

MEB
Notional line of existing window cill

MEB Design Ltd

Page 107

Chartered Architects

1.8 m high hedge

Oxford Office

Proposed West Elevation

DRAWN/CHKD

1 : 200@A3

0m

4m

8m

1 : 200

12m

16m

20m

Unit 2, Florence House, 29 Grove Street, Oxford,
OX2 7JT.
T: 01865 316 944

Also at

oxford@mebdesign.co.uk
London and Kent

www.mebdesign.co.uk

DRAWING No.

VISUAL SCALE 1:200 @ A3

1805-MEB-XX-XX-DR-A-3-302

Rev.

This drawing and design is for use solely in connection with the
project described below. The drawing and design is the copyright of
MEB Design and must not be reissued, loaned or copied without
written consent.

Existing evergreen trees forming screen

All dimensions and setting out to be checked on site before
construction. Do not scale from the drawing.

Garage of The
Elms House

The drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other information
relevant to the project. Any apparent discrepancy is to be brought
to the attention of MEB Design.

Proposed 1.8m high close boarded fence

If drawings are extracts from a co-ordianted Building Information
Model (Autodesk Revit or similar) then for full details, layouts, keys
and any items outside the Architectural Package please refer to the
separate Structural and Services Packages. If in any doubt ask.

Existing entrance blocked up and crossover removed

Linked and imported elements and files produced by other parties
remain the copyright and responsibility of those parties and not of
MEB Design Ltd

New smaller gate for wheeling bins to road

3D and rendered images are intended for information and
illustrative purposes only. 3D and rendered drawings should not be
relied upon and do not form part of any contractual arrangements.

Bin and refuse storage

© MEB Design Ltd

GENERAL NOTES

Covered area for bicycles
Remove redundant bio-disk
Low growing
shrubs/hedgegrow max 1m
high

REV

A

DATE

DESCRIPTION

04/12/18

Parking spaces shown and dimensions added.
43m vision splay shown. Falls note added.
Hedges modified.

Existing lamp post

Kit

Existing 1.8m
hedge

ch
en
/D
ini
n

Ut
g/L
iv

ing

ilit
y
Sh
ow
e

Ne
w

r

Po
rch

Building
footprint
113m2
Ha
ll

en
tr a
nc
e

CLIENT

1:
12

BCRA

ps
do
wn

SUDS
Compliant
Driveway
85m2

PROJECT TITLE

Land at Beckley Court

Ra

m

Amenity space 115m2

DRAWING TITLE

Proposed Ground Floor Plan
Existing Silver Birch tree

Existing trees

Remove redundant septic tank

Existing 1.8m high hedge

Remove hedges

Existing tree

SCALE

DRAWN/CHKD

1 : 100@A3

Ground Floor Plan

0m

2m

4m

1 : 100

Page 108

VISUAL SCALE 1:100 @ A3

6m

8m

MS PC

10m

DATE

Oct 2018

MEB

MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects
Oxford Office

Unit 2, Florence House, 29 Grove Street, Oxford,
OX2 7JT.
T: 01865 316 944

Also at

oxford@mebdesign.co.uk
London and Kent

www.mebdesign.co.uk

DRAWING No.

Rev.

1805-MEB-XX-00-DR-A-3-201

A

This drawing and design is for use solely in connection with the
project described below. The drawing and design is the copyright of
MEB Design and must not be reissued, loaned or copied without
written consent.

Window overlooking evergreen trees and
The Elms House Garage roof and tiled roof
beyond
Garage of The
Elms House

All dimensions and setting out to be checked on site before
construction. Do not scale from the drawing.
The drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other information
relevant to the project. Any apparent discrepancy is to be brought
to the attention of MEB Design.
If drawings are extracts from a co-ordianted Building Information
Model (Autodesk Revit or similar) then for full details, layouts, keys
and any items outside the Architectural Package please refer to the
separate Structural and Services Packages. If in any doubt ask.

Flat roof lights

Linked and imported elements and files produced by other parties
remain the copyright and responsibility of those parties and not of
MEB Design Ltd

Timber clad solid
balustrade

3D and rendered images are intended for information and
illustrative purposes only. 3D and rendered drawings should not be
relied upon and do not form part of any contractual arrangements.
© MEB Design Ltd

GENERAL NOTES

Line of overhang below
for shading/front porch
REV

Be
dr
oo

DESCRIPTION

m

Liv

Be
dr
oo

DATE

ing

roo

Te
rr

m

ace

m

Stu

Ma
Be ster
dr
oo
m

Ro
o
lig f
ht

dy

No
ov
erl
oo
kin
g

Ba
th

Ob
scu
re

En
su
g la

ite

zed

CLIENT

BCRA

PROJECT TITLE

Land at Beckley Court

DRAWING TITLE

Proposed First Floor Plan

SCALE

DRAWN/CHKD

1 : 100@A3

Proposed First Floor Plan

0m

2m

4m

1 : 100

Page 109

VISUAL SCALE 1:100 @ A3

6m

8m

MS PC

10m

DATE

Oct 2018

MEB

MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects
Oxford Office

Unit 2, Florence House, 29 Grove Street, Oxford,
OX2 7JT.
T: 01865 316 944

Also at

oxford@mebdesign.co.uk
London and Kent

www.mebdesign.co.uk

DRAWING No.

1805-MEB-XX-01-DR-A-3-202

Rev.

This drawing and design is for use solely in connection with the
project described below. The drawing and design is the copyright of
MEB Design and must not be reissued, loaned or copied without
written consent.
All dimensions and setting out to be checked on site before
construction. Do not scale from the drawing.
The drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other information
relevant to the project. Any apparent discrepancy is to be brought
to the attention of MEB Design.
If drawings are extracts from a co-ordianted Building Information
Model (Autodesk Revit or similar) then for full details, layouts, keys
and any items outside the Architectural Package please refer to the
separate Structural and Services Packages. If in any doubt ask.
Linked and imported elements and files produced by other parties
remain the copyright and responsibility of those parties and not of
MEB Design Ltd
3D and rendered images are intended for information and
illustrative purposes only. 3D and rendered drawings should not be
relied upon and do not form part of any contractual arrangements.
© MEB Design Ltd

GENERAL NOTES

REV

DATE

DESCRIPTION

Wood burner flue
Flat roof lights
Te
r ra
ce

11
24
8

Ca
no
py

tP

or c
h

68
46

Green roof

Fro
n

CLIENT

BCRA

PROJECT TITLE

Land at Beckley Court

DRAWING TITLE

Proposed Roof Plan

SCALE

DRAWN/CHKD

1 : 100@A3

Proposed Roof Plan

0m

2m

4m

1 : 100

Page 110

VISUAL SCALE 1:100 @ A3

6m

8m

MS PC

10m

DATE

Oct 2018

MEB

MEB Design Ltd
Chartered Architects
Oxford Office

Unit 2, Florence House, 29 Grove Street, Oxford,
OX2 7JT.
T: 01865 316 944

Also at

oxford@mebdesign.co.uk
London and Kent

www.mebdesign.co.uk

DRAWING No.

1805-MEB-XX-02-DR-A-3-203

Rev.

